

Environment Protection Authority Victoria

# Hazelwood analysis – Final report

Prepared by CSIRO for EPA Victoria

Publication 1647 December 2016



Authorised and published by Environment Protection Authority Victoria 200 Victoria Street, Carlton VIC 3053 W epa.vic.gov.au | T 1300 372 842 (1300 EPA VIC)



If you need interpreter assistance or want this document translated please call  ${\bf 131}~{\bf 450}$  and advise your preferred language.

If you are deaf, or have a hearing or speech impairment, contact us through the National Relay Service. For more information, visit: www.relayservice.gov.au

www.csiro.au



# Hazelwood Analysis

# **Final report to EPA Victoria from CSIRO**

Fabienne Reisen, Martin Cope, Kathryn Emmerson, Ian Galbally, Rob Gillett, Melita Keywood, Suzie Molloy and Jennifer Powell 15 December 2015

**Revised December 2016** 



#### CSIRO Oceans & Atmosphere Flagship

#### Citation

Reisen F, Cope, M, Emmerson K, Galbally I, Gillett R, Keywood M, Molloy S, Powell J (2015) Hazelwood mine fire analysis. CSIRO, Australia.

#### Important disclaimer

CSIRO advises that the information contained in this publication comprises general statements based on scientific research. The reader is advised and needs to be aware that such information may be incomplete or unable to be used in any specific situation. No reliance or actions must therefore be made on that information without seeking prior expert professional, scientific and technical advice. To the extent permitted by law, CSIRO (including its employees and consultants) excludes all liability to any person for any consequences, including but not limited to all losses, damages, costs, expenses and any other compensation, arising directly or indirectly from using this publication (in part or in whole) and any information or material contained in it.

CSIRO is committed to providing web accessible content wherever possible. If you are having difficulties with accessing this document please contact enquiries@csiro.au.

#### Contents

Acronyms		iv						
1	Introdu	ction 2						
2	Work u	ndertaken in this project3						
	2.1	Data collection						
	2.2	Data collation						
3	Data ba	se						
	3.1	Meteorology4						
	3.2	Continuous air quality monitoring						
	3.3	Discrete air quality monitoring						
	3.4	Water, soil and ash samples						
	3.5	Miscellaneous- satellite data, photos, fire data, model outputs						
	3.6	Relevant Literature						
4	Informa	ition products 12						
	4.1	Combustion and emission rates						
	4.2	Air quality monitoring and assessment						
	4.3	Ash						
	4.4	Dioxins and Furans (PCDD/F)						
5	Potenti	al uses						
	5.1	Exposure assessment						
	5.2	Forecasting model						
Appendix A		Measurement and analysis methods						
Appendix B		Gaseous Elemental Mercury 43						
References		44						

# **Figures**

Figure 1 Image of the smoke plume from the Hazelwood mine fire on 23 February 2014 retrieved from the NASA EarthData website (shown in red). The interactive tool allows the selection of locations and times for which data can be downloaded
Figure 2 Himawari-8 satellite image of the eruption of Manam volcano near Papua New Guinea 9
Figure 3 Map of the Hazelwood mine. Red colour indicates the batters on fire
Figure 4 Image of the smoke plume from the Hazelwood mine fire on 10 <sup>th</sup> February 2014 (top) and 23 <sup>rd</sup> February 2014 (bottom) retrieved from the NASA EarthData website (https://earthdata.nasa.gov/). It is not possible to distinguish between smoke from the coal fire and bushfire at this scale
Figure 5 Timeline of events and monitoring of the Hazelwood mine fire. AMS is air monitoring station, CFA is Country Fire Authority, MFB is Metropolitan Fire Brigade
Figure 6 Ten-year time series of hourly and daily PM <sub>10</sub> concentrations at Traralgon AMS
Figure 7 Daily PM <sub>2.5</sub> concentrations measured during the Hazelwood mine fire
Figure 8 Hourly CO concentrations measured during the Hazelwood mine fire. Morwell sites represent those sites where monitoring was done by CFA (see Table 3)
Figure 9 Time series of 24-hour concentrations of benzene at Morwell South AMS, Maryvale Crescent Preschool (MCP) and Morwell East AMS
Figure 10 Time series of hourly PM <sub>2.5</sub> concentrations measured at Morwell South during the Hazelwood mine fire (top panel) and at Ovens, VIC and Wangaratta, VIC during the 2006/07 Eastern Victoria Great Divide bushfires (bottom panel). Measurements at Wangaratta were done by EPA Victoria (https://www.epa.vic.gov.au/about-epa/publications/1187). PM2.5 was measured at Ovens by DustTrak calibrated with site specific gravimetric mass measurements (Reisen et al. 2011b).
Figure 11 PAH concentrations measured in ash samples
Figure 12 Concentrations of metals measured in ash samples
Figure 13 Mass concentrations (top) and Toxicity concentrations (bottom) of the gas-phase and particle phase dioxins (PCDD) and furans (PCDF); g+a denotes gas plus aerosol; a denotes aerosol only
Figure 14 Mass concentrations of dioxin and furan congeners measured in Morwell, Melbourne and Darwin, gas+aerosol phase, values less than detection limit excluded (lower-bound), g+a denotes gas plus aerosol; a denotes aerosol only
Figure 15 Profile pattern for dioxin and furan congeners of selected combustion sources; values less than detection limit excluded (lower-bound)
Figure 16 Profile pattern of ambient dioxins and furans measured in Morwell, Melbourne and Darwin;
Figure 17 Modelled frequency of days on which the $PM_{25}$ concentration would exceed 20 µg m <sup>-</sup> <sup>3</sup> as an hourly average out of a maximum 45 days due to mine fire scenario

# **Tables**

Table 1 Data collected	3
Table 2 Continuous air quality data collected for the Hazelwood mine fire. Methods are described in Appendix A	5
Table 3 Air quality data sets included in the data base	6
Table 4 Water, soil and ash data sets included in the data base	7
Table 5 Composition of brown coals from the Gippsland basin (Durie 1991)	14
Table 6 Concentrations of key air pollutants measured during the Hazelwood mine fire in comparison to background air, urban air and other major air pollution events. The data shows	27
average ± stdev, median, range	27
Table 7 Location of ash samples taken during the Hazelwood mine fire	28
Table 8 Current air quality standards for carbon monoxide and particulate matter	38
Table 9 Measured gaseous mercury concentrations at Morwell South	43

# Acronyms

AMS	Air monitoring station
API	Airborne Particle Index
Ave	Average
BAM	beta attenuation monitor
B(a)P	Benzo(a)pyrene
CFA	Country Fire Authority
CO	Carbon monoxide
DNPH	Dinitrophenylhydrazine
EC	Elemental carbon
IR	Infrared
MFB	Metropolitan fire brigade
MOUDI	Cascade Impactor
NEPM	National Environment Protection Measure
NO <sub>2</sub>	Nitrogen dioxide
O <sub>3</sub>	Ozone
OC	Organic carbon
PAHs	polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons
PM <sub>2.5</sub>	particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter of 2.5 $\mu$ m
PM <sub>10</sub>	particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter of 10 $\mu$ m
POPs	Persistent organic pollutants
ppm	parts per million
ppb	parts per billion
PUF	Polyurethane foam
SO <sub>2</sub>	sulphur dioxide
Stdev	standard deviation
TCDD	Dioxins
TCDF	Furans
TEOM	Tapered Element Oscillating Micro-balance
TEQ	toxic equivalency
TEF	toxic equivalency factors
VOCs	Volatile organic compounds
WHO	World Health Organisation
QZ	Quartz

# **1** Introduction

The Hazelwood mine fire was a major air pollution event that affected nearby communities in the Latrobe Valley. At the time of the event, few peer-reviewed publications were available to assess the impacts from such an incident. A large data set was collected during the Hazelwood mine fire by various parties to assess the impact on air, water and soil that will aid in the assessment of impacts on human health. The Hazelwood meta-analysis project will significantly enhance our understanding of the environmental impacts from such an event.

The inquiry into the Hazelwood mine fire resulted in a number of actions for the State of Victoria to act upon. Following on from these recommendations, EPA Victoria has commissioned a meta-analysis that aims to address Affirmation 18 in the Inquiry which states that:

"EPA to coordinate a meta-analysis, including smoke plume modelling, of air monitoring data and other relevant information collected during the Hazelwood mine fire to create a body of knowledge of the impacts of extended brown coal fire events".

The meta-analysis aims to

- Review and collate the collected data set during and after the Hazelwood mine fire (including air, water, soil and ash samples)
- Identify potential uses for the collated data and information (research publications, models or other products to share the information)
- Provide support for other institutions researching the effects of the Hazelwood mine fire incident
- Identify knowledge gaps associated with brown coal mine fires

This report covers the data set that was collated for the Hazelwood mine fire and details on the products developed for the project. Any knowledge gaps are highlighted within each product. In this work we define meta-analysis as the collation of data collected during the fire and the identification of gaps.

# 2 Work undertaken in this project

The project was a collaborative project between CSIRO and EPA Victoria to review and collate the data collected about the Hazelwood mine fire and identify potential uses of the collated data and information.

### 2.1 Data collection

Data was collected during the Hazelwood mine fire from a number of stakeholders. The details are shown in Table 2.

**Table 1 Data collected** 

ORGANISATION	DATA COLLECTED
CFA	CO, ARGOS modelling, Thermal imagery, operational data
MFB	СО
EPA Tasmania	TravelBLANkET PM <sub>2.5</sub>
LVAMN	Hourly data of NO <sub>2</sub> , SO <sub>2</sub> , O <sub>3</sub> , $PM_{10}$
DHHS	Health advice guidelines

### 2.2 Data collation

The following sections describe the data base, review the data sets collected and discuss the potential uses for the collated data and information and what products may be developed that can further our understanding on coal mine fires, their impact on air quality, human health and the environment.

# 3 Database

During the Hazelwood mine fire, data was collected by various parties to assess the impact of the Hazelwood mine fire on air, water and soil quality. On-going measurements continue at selected locations to assess the air, water and soil quality after the incident. A database of the collated data was created and will be available on

### 3.1 Meteorology

Meteorological conditions are important parameters to understand fire emissions, fire spread and plume dispersion. Of particular interest are wind speed and wind direction.

- Meteorological data was collected by EPA Victoria at three locations during the Hazelwood mine fire, Morwell South air monitoring station (AMS), Morwell East AMS and Traralgon AMS.
- Additional Bureau of Meteorology (BoM) sites are at LaTrobe Valley airport, East Sale, Warragul and Yarram Airport.

The database includes hourly data of temperature, relative humidity, wind speed and wind direction.

### 3.2 Continuous air quality monitoring

Continuous measurements were conducted for a range of criteria pollutants (e.g. CO, NO<sub>2</sub>, O<sub>3</sub>, SO<sub>2</sub>, PM<sub>2.5</sub> and PM<sub>10</sub>) by EPA Victoria, EPA Tasmania, CSIRO and CFA. A summary of the data available is shown in Table 3.

Additional continuous air quality monitoring data sets relevant for the meta-analysis are available:

- Continuous data of criteria pollutants and PM<sub>2.5</sub> collected by the Latrobe Valley Air Monitoring Network (LVAMN) at Rosedale South and Jeeralang Hill (before, during and after event)
- Air quality data collected at Moe by EPA Victoria until 2009
- Air quality data collected at Morwell East by EPA Victoria from February 2012 until May 2013
- Air quality data collected at Wangaratta by EPA Victoria from December 2006 until March 2007
- PM<sub>2.5</sub> and ozone data collected at Ovens, VIC by CSIRO from December 2006 until June 2008
- Long-term air quality data collected at Traralgon AMS since 1981

These data sets have not been included in the database. Some of the data sets have been used in the air quality assessment (see section 4.1.).

ORGANISATION	LOCATION	COMPOUNDS MEASURED <sup>1</sup>	MONITORING EQUIPMENT	AVERAGING PERIOD	START OF MEASUREMENTS	END OF MEASUREMENTS	
EPA Victoria	Morwell South AMS <sup>3</sup>	Indicative PM <sub>2.5</sub> CO, SO <sub>2</sub> , PM <sub>2.5</sub> , visibility (API) NO <sub>2</sub> , O <sub>3</sub>	DustTrak Infrared absorption spectrometry Pulsed fluorescence spectrometry Beta attenuation monitor Chemiluminescence UV absorption photometry	Continuous <sup>2</sup> Continuous Continuous Continuous Continuous Continuous	13/02/14 19/02/14 19/02/14 19/02/14 6/03/14 6/03/14	19/02/14 On-going On-going	
EPA Victoria	Morwell East AMS	API, PM <sub>2.5</sub> CO SO <sub>2</sub>	Beta attenuation monitor Infrared absorption spectrometry Pulsed fluorescence spectrometry	Continuous Continuous Continuous	13/02/14 19/02/14 19/02/14	On-going On-going	
EPA Victoria	Traralgon AMS	PM <sub>2.5</sub> , PM <sub>10</sub> , NO <sub>2</sub> , O <sub>3</sub> , SO <sub>2</sub> , CO	TEOM Chemiluminescence UV absorption photometry Pulsed fluorescence spectrometry Infrared absorption spectrometry	Continuous Continuous	On-going 28/02/14	On-going On-going	
EPA Victoria	Kernot Hall St Luke's Church Helen St	Indicative PM <sub>2.5</sub> Indicative PM <sub>2.5</sub> Indicative PM <sub>2.5</sub>	DustTrak DustTrak ADR-1500	Continuous Continuous Continuous	21/02/14 5/03/14 20/02/14	3/03/14 15/03/14 27/02/14	
EPA Victoria	Churchill Moe⁴	Indicative PM <sub>2.5</sub> Indicative PM <sub>2.5</sub>	ADR-1500 ADR-1500	Continuous Continuous	6/03/14 28/02/14	On-going On-going	
CSIRO	Morwell South (Elgin St/Chapel St)	PM <sub>2.5</sub>	E-sampler	Continuous	3/03/14	28/03/14	
CSIRO <sup>3</sup>	Morwell East AMS	PM <sub>2.5</sub>	E-sampler	Continuous	28/02/14	28/03/14	
CSIRO	Traralgon AMS	PM <sub>2.5</sub>	E-sampler	Continuous	20/02/14	28/03/14	
EPA Tasmania⁵	BLANKET drive	Indicative PM	DustTrak	Continuous			
CFA	Kerrie St Morwell Bowling Club Keegan St Maryvale Crescent Preschool Police Station Sacred Heart Primary	<ul> <li>co</li> <li>co</li> <li>co</li> <li>co</li> <li>co</li> <li>co</li> <li>co</li> </ul>	Area RAE Area RAE Area RAE Area RAE Area RAE Area RAE	Continuous	16/02/14 16/02/14 15/02/14 22/02/14 14/02/14 22/02/14 16/02/14 12/02/14	21/02/14 22/02/14 16/02/14 5/03/14 16/02/14 5/03/14 5/03/14 3/03/14	

#### Table 2 Continuous air quality data collected for the Hazelwood mine fire. Methods are described in Appendix A.

<sup>1</sup>Indicative means determined using a non-gravimetric method

<sup>2</sup>Continuous is more frequent than 5 minutes

<sup>3</sup> Operational at Morwell Bowling Club until 6 October and relocated to Maryvale Crescent Preschool, being operational on 7 October 2014

<sup>4</sup> Monitor temporarily located at Morwell South AMS

 $^{\rm 5}$  Data not included in database

# 3.3 Discrete air quality monitoring

Table 4 details the data set of air quality measurements that are included in the data base.

Available data that has not been included in the data base are:

- Silica samples collected on PM<sub>10</sub> filters on a 6-day sampling cycle between 28/02/14 and 26/03/14 at Morwell South AMS. These samples were below the detection limit of 0.003 mg cm<sup>-2</sup>.
- Silica samples collected on PM<sub>2.5</sub> filters on a 6-day sampling cycle from 9/04/14. These samples were below the detection limit of 0.003 mg cm<sup>-2</sup>.
- Four samples of gaseous elemental mercury sampled on carbon traps impregnated with iodide samples were collected for periods of 6-10 days. These data are reported in Appendix B.
- -

ORGANISATION	LOCATION	COMPOUNDS MEASURED	AVERAGING PERIOD	START OF MEASUREMENTS	END OF MEASUREMENTS		
EPA Victoria	Morwell South AMS <sup>1</sup>	PAHs, PCDD/F, Metals (PM <sub>10</sub> ) Metals (PM <sub>10</sub> Partisol) VOCs (canisters) VOCs (tubes)	24-hours 24-hours (27 samples) 24-hours (5 samples) 7-days	26/02/14 28/02/14 26/02/14 26/02/14	30/06/15 26/03/14 14/03/14 30/06/15		
EPA Victoria	Morwell East AMS	VOCs (Canisters) VOCs (tubes)	24-hours (5 samples) 7-days	26/02/14 26/02/14	14/03/14 30/06/15		
EPA Victoria	Maryvale Crescent Preschool	VOCs (canisters) VOCs (tubes)	24-hours (5 samples) 7-days	26/02/14 26/02/14	14/03/14 30/06/15		
CSIRO	Morwell South (Elgin St/Chapel St)	VOCs Carbonyls Metals (PM <sub>2.5</sub> ) PAHs, PCDD/F	25-min/hr over 24-hrs 24-hours 4-7 days 10-15 days (2 samples)	3/03/14 3/03/14 3/03/14 3/03/14	20/03/14 19/03/14 21/03/14 18/03/14		
CSIRO	Morwell East AMS Traralgon AMS	Metals (PM <sub>2.5</sub> ) Metals (PM <sub>2.5</sub> )	7-14 days 7-14 days	28/02/14 28/02/14	14/03/14 14/03/14		

#### Table 3 Air quality data sets included in the data base

<sup>1</sup> Operational at Morwell Bowling Club until 6 October and relocated to Maryvale Crescent Preschool, being operational on 7 October 2014

# 3.4 Water, soil and ash samples

Table 5 details the data set of water, soil and ash measurements that are currently included in the data base.

Data that has not been included in the data due to the analytical laboratory reporting that no compounds were detected include

- halogenated volatiles, mono-aromatic hydrocarbons (MAHs) and solvents for some soil and water samples.
- PAHs for some water samples.
- halogenated volatiles for some ash samples.

#### Table 4 Water, soil and ash data sets included in the data base

	LOCATION	SAMPLING PERIOD	COMPOUNDS MEASURED					
	Waterhole Creek	24/02/14 - 4/03/15	metals, CrVI					
	Morwell wetlands	24/02/14	metals					
	Main drain to Morwell wetlands	4/03/14 - 3/03/15	metals, CrVI					
	Latrobe River, Thoms Bridge	10/03/14 - 4/03/15	metals, CrVI					
iter	Hazelwood Pondage, Eel Hole Creek	4/03/14 - 3/03/15	metals, CrVI					
Ň	Morwell River upstream of Eel Hole Creek	4/03/14 - 3/03/15	metals, CrVI					
	Morwell River downstream of Eel Hole Creek	4/03/14 - 3/03/15	metals, CrVI					
	Residential water tank	24/02/14 - 3/04/14	metals					
	Traralgon Golf Course dam	4/03/14	metals					
	Lake Narracan	11/03/14 - 7/04/14	metals					
	Willis Ct.	18/02/14 - 3/03/15	metals, PAHs					
	Morwell CFA Station	24/02/14 - 4/03/15	metals, PAHs					
	Davey St.	24/02/14	metals, PAHs					
	Morwell East AMS	24/02/14 – 4/03/15	metals, PAHs					
Soil	Tangil East Rd & Latrobe River	25/02/14	metals, PAHs					
	Traralgon Golf Club	25/02/14 & 4/03/14	metals, PAHs					
	Keegan St. Reserve	10/03/14	metals, PAHs					
	Thoms Bridge	10/03/14 - 4/03/15	metals, PAHs					
	Lake Narracan	11/03/14 - 7/04/14	metals, PAHs,					
	Willis Ct.	18/02/14 (sediment ash) 3/03/14	metals, PAHs, MAHs					
	Morwell CFA Station	3/03/14	metals, PAHs, MAHs					
	Morwell East AMS	3/03/14	metals, PAHs, MAHs					
	Wallace St.	12/03/14 13/03/14	metals, PAHs, MAHs					
ų	Morwell Football Club	13/03/14	metals, PAHs, MAHs					
As	Club Astoria, Maryvale Crescent Ash Floor sweepings Benches	13/03/14	metals, PAHs, MAHs metals, PAHs, MAHs metals, PAHs					
	Morwell Bowling Club	13/03/14	metals, PAHs, MAHs					
	Hazelwood Road	18/03/14	metals, PAHs, MAHs					
	Dust residue	14/11/14	PAHs					

## 3.5 Miscellaneous- satellite data,

Satellite data provides important information contributing to the meta-analysis of the Hazelwood mine fire. This data is valuable for assessing smoke plume dispersion.

Of relevance to the Hazelwood meta-analysis are images and data of fire hotspots that can be retrieved from Sentinel, the Australian national bushfire monitoring system. Other relevant images are of smoke and land cover available from NASA MODIS website from the Image Gallery which collates MODIS images from other websites (http://modis.gsfc.nasa.gov/gallery/index.php#), the NASA Earthdata website (https://earthdata.nasa.gov/ e.g. Figure 1) where the interactive tool allows the selection of locations and times for which data can be downloaded and the NASA Earth Observatory website (http://earthdoservatory.nasa.gov/).

On 7 July 2015, the Japan Meteorological Agency (JMA) began operation of Himawari-8, a geostationary satellite that supports weather monitoring and forecasting operations over East Asia, Southeast Asia, Australia and New Zealand. It takes and image every ten minutes and provide valuable data on fires and smoke plume dispersion. This information will provide valuable information for any future fire events. Figure 2 gives an example of an image capturing a volcanic eruption showcasing the high resolution imagery provided by Himawari-8.



**Figure 1** Image of the smoke plume from the Hazelwood mine fire on 23 February 2014 retrieved from the NASA EarthData website (shown in red). The interactive tool allows the selection of locations and times for which data can be downloaded.



Figure 2 Himawari-8 satellite image of the eruption of Manam volcano near Papua New Guinea

### 3.6 Relevant Literature

Barton C.M., Gloe C.S., Holdgate G.R. (1993) Latrobe Valley, Victoria, Australia: a world class brown coal deposit. *International Journal of Coal Geology*, 23, 193-213.

Betha R, Pradani M, Lestari P, Joshi UM, Reid JS and Balasubramanian R (2013) Chemical speciation of trace metals emitted from Indonesian peat fires for health risk assessment. *Atmospheric Research* 122, 571-578.

Carras JN, Day SJ, Saghafi A and Williams DJ (2009) Greenhouse gas emissions from low-temperature oxidation and spontaneous combustion at open-cut coal mines in Australia. *International Journal of Coal Geology* 78(2), 161-168.

Day SJ, Carras JN, Fry R and Williams DJ (2010) Greenhouse gas emissions from Australian open-cut coal mines: contribution from spontaneous combustion and low-temperature oxidation. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* 166(1-4), 529-541.

Dias CL, Oliveira MLS, Hower JC, Taffarel SR, Kautzmann RM and Silva LFO (2014) Nanominerals and ultrafine particles from coal fires from Santa Catarina, South Brazil. *International Journal of Coal Geology* 122, 50-60.

Dindarloo SR, Hood MM, Bagherieh A and Hower JC (2015) A statistical assessment of carbon monoxide emissions from the Truman Shepherd coal fire, Floyd County, Kentucky. *International Journal of Coal Geology* **144**, 88-97.

Durie RA (1991). 'The Science of Victorian Brown Coal: Structure, Properties and Consequences for Utilization'. (CSIRO: North Ryde, Australia)

Ellyett CD and Fleming AW (1974) Thermal infrared imagery of The Burning Mountain coal fire. *Remote Sensing of Environment* **3**, 79-86.

Engle MA, Olea RA, Hower JC, Stracher GB and Kolker A (2012). Methods to quantify diffuse CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from coal fires using unevenly distributed flux data. In *'Coal and Peat Fires: a Global Perspective*.'. (Eds G. B. Stracher, A. Prakash and E. V. Sokol). pp. 24. (Elsevier: Amsterdam)

Engle MA, Olea RA, O'Keefe JMK, Hower JC and Geboy NJ (2013) Direct estimation of diffuse gaseous emissions from coal fires: Current methods and future directions. *International Journal of Coal Geology* **112**, 164-172.

Engle MA, Radke LF, Heffern EL, O'Keefe JMK, Flower JC, Smeltzer CD, Hower JM, Olea RA, Eatwell RJ, Blake DR, Emsbo-Mattingly SD, Stout SA, Queen G, Aggen KL, Kolker A, Prakash A, Henke KR, Stracher GB, Schroeder PA, Roman-Colon Y and ter Schure A (2012) Gas emissions, minerals, and tars associated with three coal fires, Powder River Basin, USA. *Science of the Total Environment* 420, 146-159.

Engle MA, Radke LF, Heffern EL, O'Keefe JMK, Smeltzer CD, Hower JC, Hower JM, Prakash A, Kolker A, Eatwell RJ, ter Schure A, Queen G, Aggen KL, Stracher GB, Henke KR, Olea RA and Roman-Colon Y (2011) Quantifying greenhouse gas emissions from coal fires using airborne and ground-based methods. *International Journal of Coal Geology* 88(2-3), 147-151.

Finkelman RB (2004) Potential health impacts of burning coal beds and waste banks. *International Journal of Coal Geology* **59**(1-2), 19-24.

Gao XP, Rahim MU, Chen XX and Wu HW (2014) Significant contribution of organically-bound Mg, Ca, and Fe to inorganic PM<sub>10</sub> emission during the combustion of pulverized Victorian brown coal. *Fuel* **117**, 825-832.

Holdgate GR (2005) Geological processes that control lateral and vertical variability in coal seam moisture contents - Latrobe Valley (Gippsland Basin) Australia. *International Journal of Coal Geology* **63**(1-2), 130-155.

Hower JC, Henke K, O'Keefe JMK, Engle MA, Blake DR and Stracher GB (2009) The Tiptop coal-mine fire, Kentucky: Preliminary investigation of the measurement of mercury and other hazardous gases from coal-fire gas vents. *International Journal of Coal Geology* 80(1), 63-67.

Hower JC, O'Keefe JMK, Henke KR, Wagner NJ, Copley G, Blake DR, Garrison T, Oliveira MLS, Kautzmann RM and Silva LFO (2013) Gaseous emissions and sublimates from the Truman Shepherd coal fire, Floyd County, Kentucky: A re-investigation following attempted mitigation of the fire. *International Journal of Coal Geology* 116, 63-74.

Huo HY, Ni ZY, Gao CX, Zhao EY, Zhang YZ, Lian Y, Zhang HL, Zhang SY, Jiang XG, Song XF, Zhou P and Cui TJ (2015) A Study of Coal Fire Propagation with Remotely Sensed Thermal Infrared Data. *Remote Sensing* 7(3), 3088-3113.

Kuenzer C, Zhang JZ, Tetzlaff A, van Dijk P, Voigt S, Mehl H and Wagner W (2007) Uncontrolled coal fires and their environmental impacts: Investigating two arid mining regions in north-central China. *Applied Geography* 27(1), 42-62.

Li CZ (2007) Some recent advances in the understanding of the pyrolysis and gasification behaviour of Victorian brown coal. *Fuel* **86**(12-13), 1664-1683.

Nelson PF, Shah P, Strezov V, Halliburton B and Carras JN (2010) Environmental impacts of coal combustion: A risk approach to assessment of emissions. *Fuel* 89(4), 810-816.

O'Keefe JMK, Henke KR, Hower JC, Engle MA, Stracher GB, Stucker JD, Drew JW, Staggs WD, Murray TM, Hammond ML, Adkins KD, Mullins BJ and Lemley EW (2010) CO(2), CO, and Hg emissions from the Truman Shepherd and Ruth Mullins coal fires, eastern Kentucky, USA. *Science of the Total Environment* 408(7), 1628-1633.

O'Keefe JMK, Neace ER, Lemley EW, Hower JC, Henke KR, Copley G, Hatch RS, Satterwhite AB and Blake DR (2011) Old Smokey coal fire, Floyd County, Kentucky: estimates of gaseous emission rates. *International Journal of Coal Geology* 87, 150-156.

Paradiz B, Dilara P, Horak J, De Santi G, Christoph EH and Umlauf G (2008) An integrated approach to assess the PCDD/F emissions of the coal fired stoves combining emission measurements and ambient air levels modelling. *Chemosphere* **73**(1), S94-S100.

Pone JDN, Hein KAA, Stracher GB, Annegarn HJ, Finkleman RB, Blake DR, McCormack JK and Schroeder P (2007) The spontaneous combustion of coal and its by-products in the Witbank and Sasolburg coalfields of South Africa. *International Journal of Coal Geology* 72(2), 124-140.

Ribeiro J, Flores D, Ward CR and Silva LFO (2010) Identification of nanominerals and nanoparticles in burning coal waste piles from Portugal. *Science of the Total Environment* **408**(23), 6032-6041.

Silva LFO, Moreno T and Querol X (2009) An introductory TEM study of Fe-nanominerals within coal fly ash. *Science of the Total Environment* **407**(17), 4972-4974.

Stracher GB and Taylor TP (2004) Coal fires burning out of control around the world: thermodynamic recipe for environmental catastrophe. *International Journal of Coal Geology* 59, 7-17.

Tanner J, Blasing M, Muller M and Bhattacharya S (2014) Influence of Temperature on the Release of Inorganic Species from Victorian Brown Coals and German Lignites under CO<sub>2</sub> Gasification Conditions. *Energy & Fuels* **28**(10), 6289-6298.

Tanner J, Blasing M, Muller M and Bhattacharya S (2015) The temperature-dependent release of volatile inorganic species from Victorian brown coals and German lignites under CO<sub>2</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>O gasification conditions. *Fuel* **158**, 72-80.

Tanner J, Bhattacharya S (2016) Kinetics of CO<sub>2</sub> and steam gasification of Victorian brown coal chars. *Chemical Engineering Journal* 285, 331–340.

Wijaya N, Choo TK and Zhang L (2011) Generation of ultra-clean coal from Victorian brown coal - Sequential and single leaching at room temperature to elucidate the elution of individual inorganic elements. *Fuel Processing Technology* **92**(11), 2127-2137.

Yudovich YE and Ketris MP (2006) Chlorine in coal: A review. *International Journal of Coal Geology* **67**(1-2), 127-144.

Zhang YX, Schauer JJ, Zhang YH, Zeng LM, Wei YJ, Liu Y and Shao M (2008) Characteristics of particulate carbon emissions from real-world Chinese coal combustion. *Environmental Science & Technology* 42(14), 5068-5073.

# **4** Information products

A large number of uncontrolled coal fires that have burned for more than 50 years have been reported (*Nolter and Vice 2004; Stracher and Taylor 2004*). In the US alone it is estimated that 150 uncontrolled surface and underground coal fires are still burning (*Finkelman 2004*). In Australia, the 'Burning Mountain', a large coal seam in New South Wales has been smouldering for more than 6000 years (*Ellyett and Fleming 1974*). However the Hazelwood mine fire could be considered unique as it involved an open cut mine located very close to a populated centre.

Despite the extent of uncontrolled coal fires, limited research has focused on the pollutants emitted from coal fires and the human health impacts. Recent research studies have investigated exhaust gases in vents from underground coal mine fires in the US (*Hower et al. 2009; O'Keefe et al. 2010; O'Keefe et al. 2011; Engle et al. 2012*). The results have shown a large spatial and temporal variability in concentrations of gases, some indicating incomplete combustion of the coal and some suggesting a more complete combustion. During incomplete combustion, elevated levels of benzene and aliphatic and aromatic compounds were measured. In general, studies have mainly focused on greenhouse gas pollutants such as carbon dioxide and methane or other toxic gases, but information on particulate matter emissions is scarce.

The large data set collected during the Hazelwood mine fire by various parties to assess the impact on air, water, soil and human health significantly enhanced our understanding of the environmental and health impacts from such an event. This document presents a brief summary of the outputs from the study that are aimed to improve the advice and response to communities in any future similar events.

# 4.1 Combustion and emission rates

The extent of a coal mine fire and its impact on the environment and human health is dependent on

- the amount of coal that was burned,
- the conditions (e.g. oxygen levels, combustion temperature) under which the coal was burning,
- the elemental composition of the coal
- the moisture content of the coal
- the density/structure of the coal

It is important to understand how much coal burned, how it burned and what the coal composition is in order to assess the release of likely pollutants of concern into the environment. Characterisation of emission rates of key pollutants is also critical for both air quality forecasting and community exposure modelling.

#### 4.1.1 Daily coal consumption by the fire

The amount of coal that was consumed by the fire each day is important in order to assess emissions of pollutants into the atmosphere. A range of indirect techniques exist that can estimate coal consumption for a given fire. These include: 1) thermal heat flux derived from airborne thermal infrared (TIR) imagery and satellite imagery (*Engle et al. 2011; Engle et al. 2012; Engle et al. 2012; Huo et al. 2015);* 2) coal loss estimates reported by coal mine engineers (*van Dijk et al. 2011*); 3) rate of coal fire advance (*Engle et al.* 

2012); and 4) growth rates of areas which have been magnetically reset due to heating above the Curie temperature (*Ide and Orr 2011*).

In the absence of direct information on the amount of coal that was burned, the daily consumption of coal can be estimated using the thermal imagery taken by CFA on a daily basis during the Hazelwood mine fire.

#### 4.1.2 Burning conditions

The conditions of combustion of the coal fire, in particular combustion temperature and oxygen levels, determine the type and amount of emissions into the atmosphere. In bushfires, the major reaction mechanisms are flaming combustion of volatilised gases and smouldering combustion of the char residue. Coal combustion is primarily a solid-phase combustion where reactions occur on the surface. Due to the higher density and carbon fraction, fire within coal spreads slower but burns hotter. Combustion temperature of coal can reach peaks at around 1000°C (*Rein 2016*). Resulting from this, coal fires are more frequently accompanied by flames compared to other smouldering fuels. A glowing combustion is expected in the presence of oxygen and a charring combustion in the absence of oxygen. Coal combustion requires a lot of energy to initiate but once initiated it releases twice the amount of energy compared to vegetative fuel.

As combustion temperature and oxygen conditions vary over time and space as the fire progresses, emissions are highly variable. Furthermore firefighting efforts (e.g. use of water and foam) would impact on the burning conditions and hence smoke emissions. Thermal imagery and photography will provide some information on the conditions under which the coal burned.

Burning conditions also impact on plume rise and hence smoke dispersion and impacts on nearby communities. Plume height is strongly influenced by fire intensity and the heat and moisture released from the fire (*Heilman et al. 2014*). During the coal mine fire, there was no fire-induced convection that would rapidly transport emissions upward and effectively transport pollutants in the free troposphere. Dispersion of pollutants emitted from the coal mine fire was low resulting in high pollution impact on the Morwell community. The impact on the Morwell community was mainly driven by meteorological conditions in particular wind speed and wind direction.

### 4.1.3 Elemental composition of the coal

Research has shown that elements contained within the coal can be mobilised during burning processes and be released into the environment (*Finkelman 2004*). Some volatile elements that have been found to be enriched in coal deposits include arsenic, fluorine, mercury and selenium. These elements can be released into the environment during burning of coal beds. They can impact on human health, be adsorbed on crops and taken up by livestock.

Victorian brown coal is mainly composed of carbon with low levels of sulphur and nitrogen and trace levels of minerals and heavy metals. The composition of brown coal from the Gippsland basin is shown in Table 6 and indicates the variability in composition of brown coals across the different coal seams.

Location	Yallourn	Gelliondale	Loy Yang	Morwell	Flynn	Gormandale
Moisture (%)	66.5	64.5	62.8	61.3	64.1	55.1
Ash (%db)	1.7	5.7	1.3	3.0	1.3	1.6
Volatile matter (%db)	50.3	49.4	49.8	48.3	50.6	51.5
Fixed carbon (%db)	48.0	44.9	48.9	48.7	48.1	46.9
Minerals and non- mineral inorganics (%db)	1.3	3.3	1.4	2.0	1.0	1.3
Fe	0.53	0.07	0.04	0.21	0.03	0.13
Са	0.12	1.44	0.04	0.54	0.02	0.09
Mg	0.20	0.46	0.07	0.31	0.12	0.12
Na	0.09	0.35	0.14	0.09	0.28	0.04
Cl	0.11	0.31	0.18	0.07	0.35	0.04
S	0.26	0.73	0.31	0.30	0.32	0.73
Nitrogen (% dmif)	0.57	0.48	0.59	0.60	0.50	0.53
Oxygen (% dmif)	26.9	26.6	25.8	25.0	26.2	25.7

#### Table 5 Composition of brown coals from the Gippsland basin (Durie 1991)

db=dry basis; dmif=dry mineral and non-mineral inorganic free basis

#### 4.1.4 Knowledge gaps

Currently there are no available data in the literature on emission characterisation from open-cut coal mine fires. Our understanding of the combustion of solid fuels such as Victorian brown coal has been focused on burning in furnaces and industrial processes and open combustion is a relatively recent area of concern. Experience with open burning of biomass (vegetation) suggests that the combustion process itself has a larger influence on emissions than the composition of the fuel. In particular there is a significant difference between emissions from biomass fuel burned in laboratory conditions to fuel burned in more field-like conditions. Application of laboratory-derived emission factors in the modelling activities may result in significant uncertainties in model outcomes.

To determine emission factors for Victorian brown coal during open combustion a series of experimental burns is required that will replicate as closely as possible the conditions under which the mine fire occurred. Besides emission factors, these experimental burns would provide information on the concentration of hazardous pollutants in the smoke and signature chemical compounds that could be used to identify impact from open burning of Victorian brown coal in a future scenario. In addition these experiments would provide information on the composition of the residue after complete and incomplete combustion. The experiments would also provide information on the difference between fly ash, bushfire ash and mine fire ash which would guide the identification of samples of ash collected from homes during the fires.

# 4.2 Air quality monitoring and assessment

Air quality data was collected prior, during and after the Hazelwood mine fire and the following sections will review the timeline of the event and monitoring, discuss the air quality impacts in the context of other major pollution events and suggest a monitoring approach adapted to an emergency event of this nature. A better understanding of the impact of the Hazelwood mine fire on air quality and community exposures will improve the advice and response provided to communities in any future similar incidents.

#### 4.2.1 Timeline of events and monitoring

The Hazelwood mine fire started on 9 February 2014 when embers from nearby bushfires spotted into the mine. Due to strong south-westerly winds with wind gusts up to 74 km/h, the fire spread rapidly and extensively. By the morning of 10 February 2014, the fire had spread across three levels in the northern batters over approximately 2 km length, in the eastern batters over approximately 1 km length and on the floor mine over an area of approximately 0.25 km<sup>2</sup> (Figure 3) (http://report.hazelwoodinquiry.vic.gov.au/). On 13 February 2014 the Hazelwood mine fire was declared to be a HazMat incident.



Figure 3 Map of the Hazelwood mine. Red colour indicates the batters on fire.

The extent of the smoke plume from the Hazelwood mine fire and the adjacent bushfires could be clearly identified from NASA's MODIS satellite images (Figure 4).



Figure 4 Image of the smoke plume from the Hazelwood mine fire on 10<sup>th</sup> February 2014 (top) and 23<sup>rd</sup> February 2014 (bottom) retrieved from the NASA EarthData website (https://earthdata.nasa.gov/). It is not possible to distinguish between smoke from the coal fire and bushfire at this scale.

The Hazelwood mine fire was declared under control on 10 March 2014 and declared safe on 25 March 2014, after burning for 45 days. Figure 5 shows the timeline of the event and the environmental monitoring carried out during the Hazelwood mine fire. Community monitoring of CO and PM started approximately four days after the fire entered the coal mine with more extensive community monitoring starting within the 2<sup>nd</sup> week of the fire.

Fire started				Hazmat incident				Revised suppression		Start of foam use		Cracks in coal (SB)			Spike day													Fire under control															Fire safe
9 Feb	10 Feb	11 Feb	12 Feb	13 Feb 14 Feb	15 Feb	16 Feb	17 Feb	18 Feb	19 Feb	20 Feb	21 Feb	22 Feb	23 Feb	24 Feb	25 Feb	26 Feb	27 Feb	28 Feb	1 Mar	2 Mar	3 Mar	4 Mar	5 Mar	6 Mar	7 Mar	8 Mar	9 Mar	10 Mar	11 Mar	12 Mar	13 Mar	14 Mar	15 Mar	16 Mar	17 Mar	18 Mar	19 Mar	20 Mar	21 Mar	22 Mar	23 Mar	24 Mar	25 Mar
		W	/eek	1				W	'eek	2					W	'eek	3					Ì	Wee	<b>&lt;</b> 4					W	eek	5			Week 6 Week 7									
Trar	Traralgon AMS: PM2.5, PM10, NO2, O3, SO2																																										
				Marry			NAC.											Tra	ralg	on	AMS	5: C	0																				
				WIOTW		ast A		PIVI	12.5	rwo	II Fa	ct A			200		2																										
				Morw	ell So	outh	AM	S: E	stim	ate		<u>зг д</u> Л	1013.		and	130	2																										
									Мо	rwe	II So	uth	AM	S: C	0, S	02	and	PM	2.5																								
	Morwell South AMS: NO2 and O3																																										
	PAHs/Metals (PM10) at Morwell South AMS; VOCs at 3 locations in Morwell (EPA Victoria)																																										
	Estimated PM at various locations in Morwell (EPA Victoria)																																										
	CO at various locations in Morwell (CFA, MFB)																																										
	CSIRO monitoring (size fractionated PM, VOCs, carbonyls, PAHs, POPs, mercury)																																										
														Soil	and	d wa	ter	sam	nplin	ng a	t vai	riou	us loo	atic	ons i	n M	orw	ell (I	EPA	Vict	oria	)											

Figure 5 Timeline of events and monitoring of the Hazelwood mine fire. AMS is air monitoring station, CFA is Country Fire Authority, MFB is Metropolitan Fire Brigade

#### 4.2.2 Long-term air quality monitoring in Traralgon

Air quality in the Latrobe Valley has been monitored with modern techniques since 1981 and the ten-year  $PM_{10}$  data measured at the Traralgon air monitoring station (AMS) are shown in Figure 6. While the four power stations, Yallourn, Hazelwood and Loy Yang A and B are likely to add to the general background  $PM_{10}$  concentrations, the data shows that seasonal bushfires have the largest impact on ambient  $PM_{10}$  concentrations. Highlighted in Figure 6 are the impacts from the 2006/07 Eastern Victoria Great Divide bushfires that burned an area of ~ 1.3 million ha over 69 days, the 2009 Black Saturday bushfires and the 2014 East Gippsland fires including the Hazelwood mine fire. These were the periods when  $PM_{10}$  concentrations exceeded 50 µg m<sup>-3</sup>, for 11 days in 2006/07, 2 days in 2009 and 3 days in 2014. Daily  $PM_{10}$  concentrations exceeded 50 µg m<sup>-3</sup> on several occasions during autumn (March-May) most likely due to smoke from prescribed burns.



Figure 6 Ten-year time series of hourly and daily PM<sub>10</sub> concentrations at Traralgon AMS

#### 4.2.3 Air quality monitoring results

This section summarises the major results from the air quality monitoring. More detailed information is provided in *Reisen et al. (2015)*.

Continuous measurements of criteria pollutants (PM, CO, ozone  $(O_3)$ , nitrogen dioxide  $(NO_2)$  and sulfur dioxide  $(SO_2)$ ) were conducted at three air monitoring stations during the Hazelwood mine fire, i.e. Morwell South AMS, Morwell East AMS and Traralgon AMS. As monitoring of criteria pollutants in Morwell did not start until 3 to 10 days after the fire, peak concentrations observed during the initial phase of the fire have not been measured.

Monitoring of air toxics (e.g. VOCs, carbonyls, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), dioxins and furans (PCDD/F) and metals) started on 26 February, when particle and CO concentrations had already considerably subsided. Therefore it is highly likely that peak concentrations would have been higher during the initial phase of the fire.

#### **Particulate matter**

Figure 7 shows the 24-hour PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentrations measured during the Hazelwood mine fire. Highest PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentrations were observed at Morwell South AMS with a maximum hourly PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration of 1349  $\mu$ g m<sup>-3</sup> and a maximum daily concentration of 731 $\mu$ g m<sup>-3</sup>, approximately 30 times higher than the 24-hour advisory National Environment Protection Measure for Ambient Air Quality (Air NEPM) for PM2.5 of 25  $\mu$ g m<sup>-3</sup> and and 3 times greater than the community Smoke, Air Quality and Health standard for PM2.5 category of Hazardous Extreme <sup>1</sup>. PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentrations were particularly high in February with a significant decrease in March. PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentrations were significantly higher in Morwell South AMS, but exceedances of the 24-hour advisory Air NEPM were also observed in Traralgon AMS (8 days), located approximately 13 km from the fire, where a maximum daily PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration of 65.6  $\mu$ g m<sup>-3</sup> was recorded and the concentrations were in the Unhealthy All category of the graduated standards<sup>12</sup>Considering the elevated PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentrations measured at Traralgon on 9<sup>th</sup> and 12<sup>th</sup> February at Morwell South.

PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentrations were highly variable during the day. Elevated concentrations occurred mainly in the afternoon/early evening and were strongly associated with south-westerly winds.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Community Smoke Air Quality & Health Standard (December 2015) http://files.portal.em.vic.gov.au/refdocs/EMK-01.19-Community-SAQH-Protocol.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Hazelwood Coal Mine Fire –PM2.5 Health Protocol DOH.0005.001.0151 Endorsed 13 March 2014



Figure 7 Daily PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentrations measured during the Hazelwood mine fire

#### **Carbon monoxide**

Figure 8 shows the hourly CO concentrations measured at various locations in Morwell. Elevated CO levels were primarily observed in the early stages of the fire. The maximum 8-hour averaged CO concentration was measured at 33 ppm in Morwell South, approximately 4 times higher than the Air NEPM standard and slightly higher than the AEGL-2 graduated guideline of the Standard for Managing Exposure to Significant Carbon Monoxide Emissions for CO<sup>34</sup>. No exceedances of the 8-hour Air NEPM standard for CO were observed at either Morwell East AMS (max=2.9ppm) or Traralgon AMS (max=0.7ppm). The highest impact was observed in Morwell South AMS with elevated concentrations occurring primarily late afternoon/early evening and under south-westerly winds.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> the **Standard for Managing Exposure to Significant Carbon Monoxide Emissions (July 2015)** http://files.portal.em.vic.gov.au/refdocs/EMK-01.19-CarbonMonoxideEmissions.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Latrobe Valley Coal Fires Carbon Monoxide Response Protocol Department of Health (Version 1.0) 27 February 2014



Figure 8 Hourly CO concentrations measured during the Hazelwood mine fire. Morwell sites represent those sites where monitoring was done by CFA (see Table 3)

#### **Other criteria pollutants**

Concentrations of  $O_3$ ,  $NO_2$  and  $SO_2$  remained within air quality guidelines and no significant impact from the Hazelwood mine fire was observed.

#### Volatile organic compounds

Volatile organic compounds (VOCs) are are a large group of carbon-based compounds that are volatile at room temperature.

The time series of the 24-hour concentrations of benzene measured at three locations in Morwell (i.e. Morwell South AMS, Morwell East AMS and Maryvale Crescent Preschool) is shown in Figure 9. As for PM and CO, concentrations at Morwell South AMS were significantly higher than those observed at Morwell East AMS. Benzene was the only measured VOC that exceeded air quality guidelines. While concentrations of formaldehyde were highest in February at Morwell South AMS, they never exceeded the 24-hour air quality Air Toxics NEPM guideline of 40 ppb.



Figure 9 Time series of 24-hour concentrations of benzene at Morwell South AMS, Maryvale Crescent Preschool (MCP) and Morwell East AMS

#### PAHs and dioxins/furans (PCDD/F)

Measurements of particle bound PAHs collected on PM<sub>10</sub> filters between 26 February and 20 March showed a significant decrease in PAH concentrations over time in particular between February and March. Major particle-bound PAHs included chrysene, benzo(a)anthracene and benzo(e)pyrene, followed by benzo(a)pyrene, benzo(b)fluoranthene and pyrene. Fluorene was an important contributor to total PAH concentrations for samples collected in March.

The 2-week PAH samples that were collected in March on both filters and PUFs showed higher concentrations of semi-volatile PAHs compared to particle-bound PAHs. The major semi-volatile PAHs included naphthalene, phenanthrene and fluorene.

Dioxins and dioxin-like compounds are regarded as highly toxic and persistent organic pollutants. They include polychlorinated dibenzo-*p*-dioxins (PCDDs), polychlorinated dibenzofurans (PCDFs) and polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs). The toxic equivalency (TEQ) of PCDD/F of 24-hour PM<sub>10</sub> samples collected at Morwell South AMS using a High-Volume sampler was calculated. The presented TEQ is based on toxic equivalency factors (TEFs) set by the World Health Organisation (WHO)-International Programme on Chemical Safety in 2005. The TEF expresses the toxicity of PCDDs, PCDFs and PCBs in terms of the most toxic dioxin, e.g. 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin (2,3,7,8-TCDD). The TEQ results from the product of the concentration and individual TEF values of each congener. Similar to PAHs there is a significant decrease in concentrations of TEQ between the samples collected in February and March. The highest TEQ was measured at 40 fg m<sup>-3</sup>. As a comparison TEQ values of filter samples collected at Aspendale in winter and summer (3-year average) were 1.2 and 4.3 fg m<sup>-3</sup> respectively, while TEQ of filter samples collected in Section 4.4.

#### Metals

Measurements of metals were performed on PM<sub>10</sub> filter samples collected at Morwell South AMS over a 24-hour period on a one-day in-six cycle. The major metals identified included calcium (Ca), sulphur (S), magnesium (Mg), silicon (Si), sodium (Na), iron (Fe) and aluminium (AI) followed by titanium (Ti), potassium (K), strontium (Sr), zinc (Zn) and manganese (Mn). This is consistent with the composition of Victorian brown coal.

#### 4.2.4 Discussion of air quality monitoring results

The Hazelwood mine fire burned for 45 days, during which time the population was periodically exposed to elevated levels of air pollutants. The event was unprecedented not only due to the intensity of the event, but also due to the close proximity of the population to the Hazelwood mine fire. While bushfires can have a major impact on air quality, the primary pollutant of concern for population exposures is particulate matter. Most research studies have found that levels of fine particulate matter were consistently elevated downwind of bushfires, while levels of other pollutants varied little or showed increases that were much lower than Air NEPM air quality standards or guidelines (*Reisen and Brown 2006*). This is likely due to dispersion in buoyant plumes and dilution during transport when clean air is entrained in the smoke plume resulting in lower concentrations downwind where populations are exposed.

In the case of the Hazelwood mine fire, there was no immediate fire threat to the Morwell community which meant that population exposure to smoke was at much closer proximity to the fire front than would be the case for bushfires.

The air quality data showed that the smoke impact was localised with higher pollutant levels measured in Morwell South (approximately 500 m from the fire) than in Morwell East, located approximately 3 km from the fire. The air quality was especially impacted in February, with a significant decrease in pollutant concentrations observed in March.

Major air pollutants of concern included PM, CO, benzene and PAHs due to the elevated concentrations measured during the Hazelwood mine fire and will be further discussed below.

#### **Particulate matter**

During the Hazelwood mine fire PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentrations were very high and exceeded air quality guidelines on multiple occasions. While particle levels were elevated during the Hazelwood mine fire, the long-term air monitoring in Traralgon showed that this was not a unique event that caused elevated particle levels. In fact elevated particle concentrations were previously observed during the 2006/07 Eastern Victorian Great Divide bushfires and during the 2009 bushfires, with higher daily and hourly PM<sub>10</sub> concentrations than those observed in Traralgon AMS during the Hazelwood mine fire.

Since the biggest impact on particle levels was observed in Morwell South, the hourly  $PM_{2.5}$  concentrations measured in Morwell South AMS during the Hazelwood mine fire are compared against those measured in Northeast Victoria during the 2006/07 Eastern Victoria Great Divide bushfires (Figure 10). Wangaratta and Ovens are towns located in Northeast Victoria that were severely impacted by the 2006/07 bushfires. In both instances monitoring started a few days after the fire clearly shown by the elevated concentrations at the start of the monitoring periods. Both events were of similar duration and magnitude with slightly higher maximum hourly and daily  $PM_{2.5}$  concentrations at Ovens, VIC than at Morwell South AMS. However the number of hours at  $PM_{2.5}$  concentrations greater than 250 µg m<sup>-3</sup> was higher at Morwell South AMS.



Figure 10 Time series of hourly PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentrations measured at Morwell South during the Hazelwood mine fire (top panel) and at Ovens, VIC and Wangaratta, VIC during the 2006/07 Eastern Victoria Great Divide bushfires (bottom panel). Measurements at Wangaratta were done by EPA Victoria (https://www.epa.vic.gov.au/about-epa/publications/1187). PM2.5 was measured at Ovens by DustTrak calibrated with site specific gravimetric mass measurements (Reisen et al. 2011b).

#### Carbon monoxide

One of the major differences between the Hazelwood mine fire and other major bushfire events was the fact that CO concentrations measured within the community were elevated. During the event the highest ever 8-hour average CO concentrations measured by EPA Victoria was recorded. In general, concentrations of CO measured in downwind communities during wildfire smoke remain low. During the 2006/07 bushfires which had a significant impact on Melbourne, maximum hourly CO concentrations of 4.5 ppm were measured using infrared absorption spectrometry (*Keywood et al. 2015*), in comparison to maximum hourly CO concentration of 39 ppm measured in Morwell also measured using infrared absorption spectrometry. At a staging area in Jamieson in Northeast Victoria, hourly concentrations of 17.3 ppm were measured during the 2006/07 bushfires, while CO concentrations on the fire ground were much higher in some instances. Based on a review of the scientific and technical literature, a few studies reported enhancements of CO concentrations above air quality guidelines resulting from impacts of plumes from wildfires (*Aditama 2000; Kunii et al. 2002; Konovalov et al. 2011*).

#### Air toxics

Measurements of air toxics only commenced on 26 February 2014, when concentrations of CO and  $PM_{2.5}$  had already considerably subsided. As a result reported peak concentrations are likely not to be representative of the fire incident period.

Weekly average concentrations of benzene were higher at Morwell South compared to those measured at Ovens, VIC during the 2006/07 bushfires. They were also higher than benzene concentrations measured in Melbourne during the 2008/09 indoor air study (*Cheng et al. 2015*). The benzene to toluene ratio at Morwell South was 2.2, which is higher than the ratio of 0.8 measured at Ovens, VIC during the 2006/07 bushfires (*Meyer et al. 2008*), but similar to that observed during peat fires (*Blake et al. 2009*) and underground coal fires (*O'Keefe et al. 2011; Engle et al. 2012*). Benzene to toluene ratios measured on the fire ground during prescribed burns ranged from 0.03 (recorded for lighting crews) to 4.5 (recorded for patrolling crews) (*Reisen and Brown 2009*). In general benzene to toluene ratios are less than 0.5 in urban areas consistent with traffic related emissions. After the end of the Hazelwood mine fire the ratio of benzene to toluene was similar to that observed in Melbourne and consistent with traffic-related air pollution.

The annual averaged concentration of benzene calculated between February 2014 and February 2015 (which included the fire period) was about twice as high as the annual averaged concentration calculated between April 2014 and April 2015 (which excluded the fire period), but was still below the annual averaged concentration measured in Melbourne in 2006 and below the annual average value listed in the Air Toxics NEPM guideline of 0.003 ppm.

The annual averaged concentrations of B(a)P was especially affected by the fire and exceeded the annual air quality guideline (Air Toxics NEPM) of 0.3 ng m<sup>-3</sup>. The annual average concentrations measured at Morwell South AMS was approximately twice as high as the annual average concentration measured in Melbourne in 2006.

#### Metals

Research has shown that elements contained within the coal can be mobilised during burning processes and be released into the environment (*Finkelman 2004*). Some volatile elements that have been found to be enriched in coal deposits include arsenic, fluorine, mercury and selenium. These elements can be released into the environment during burning of coal beds. They can impact on human health, be adsorbed on crops and taken up by livestock. During the Hazelwood mine fire higher concentrations of cobalt, manganese, selenium, strontium, titanium, vanadium and zinc were measured. Although increased concentrations of these metals were measured during the Hazelwood mine fire, concentrations remained below air quality guidelines.

#### Summary

Ambient measurements conducted in Morwell and surrounding areas have shown that the Hazelwood mine fire caused increased concentrations in a range of air pollutants resulting in exceedances of air quality guidelines for PM<sub>2.5</sub>, CO, benzene and BaP. The air quality was significantly impacted in February with a decrease in pollutant levels recorded in March. Air quality concentrations dropped to background levels once the fire was declared safe at the end of March. A summary of the air quality data is shown in Table 7. The ambient particle concentrations related to the Hazelwood mine fire were of similar magnitude than those recorded during the 2006/07 Eastern Victoria Great Divide bushfires. However measured concentrations of CO (measured using the standard Infrared absorption spectrometry method) and benzene were higher than those measured during the extensive bushfire event.

Table 6 Concentrations of key air pollutants measured during the Hazelwood mine fire in comparison to background air, urban air and other major air pollution events. The data shows average ± stdev, median, range.

Event	Hourly PM <sub>2.5</sub> (µg m³)	Daily PM <sub>2.5</sub> (µg m³)	Hourly CO (ppm)	Benzene (ppb)	Formaldehyde (ppb)	B(a)P (ng m <sup>-3</sup> )
Morwell South AMS (February 2014)	212±295, 70.1, 0-1349	206±194, 128, 19.8-731	3.7±4.3, 1.9, 0-17.4	9.7-14.0 (24h) 1.9-3.4 (7day)	5.4-7.6	6.4-8.2
Morwell East AMS (February 2014)	37.8±48.5, 17.3, 0.2-328	37.5±21.7, 32.3, 7.1-87.8	0.54±0.90, 0.10, 0-5.1	1.7-2.1 (24h) 0.7-1.0 (7day)	2.3-2.7	NM
Morwell South AMS (March 2014)	17.6±24.3, 9.3, 0-186.5	16.9±15.3, 10.2, 4.6-70.3	0.50±0.94, 0.10, 0-6.4	1.1-3.1 (24h) 0.4-0.8 (7day)	1.4-3.1	0.01-1.8
Morwell East AMS (March 2014)	12.2±17.0, 7.5, 0-192	11.7±9.3, 8.4, 3.5-41.2	0.17±0.50, 0.10, 0-5.2	0.9-2.5 (24h) 0.2-0.3 (7day)	1.4-3.0	NM
Morwell South AMS (Sep-Nov 2014)	6.3±5.2, 6.0, 0-27.6	6.3±2.2, 6.0, 1.9-14.1	0.1±0.2, 0.1, 0-2.1	0.02-0.15 (7day)	NM	<0.006
Morwell East AMS (Sep-Nov 2014)	6.1±7.0, 5.9, 0-145	6.2±2.5, 6.2, 1.3-11.7	0.1±0.1, 0.1, 0-0.7	0.02-0.18 (7day)	NM	NM
Melbourne <sup>1</sup> (Feb/March 2013)	0-27.6	0-13.1	0-0.7	NM	NM	NM
Melbourne 2008/09 <sup>2</sup>				0.06-0.72	0.5-3.8	NM
Ovens VIC 2006/07 <sup>3</sup>	14.5-1783	14.6-1102	NM	0.03-1.1 (7day)	NM	NM
Aspendale <sup>4</sup> (Fires 2006/07)	12-556		0.06-4.5	NM	NM	NM
Fire ground⁵ (work shift exposure)		20-16,000	0.18-120	0.63-81.5	ND-665	ND-1600 (mean of 9.3)
Peat fires (WA) <sup>6</sup>	0.3-106	7.3-17.1		16.9-30.5 (1h)		

<sup>1</sup> EPA Victoria

<sup>2</sup> Molloy et al. (2012) ; Cheng et al. (2015)

<sup>3</sup> Meyer et al. (2008)

<sup>4</sup> Keywood et al. (2015)

<sup>5</sup> Reisen and Brown (2009); Reisen et al. (2011)

<sup>6</sup> Blake et al. (2009)

#### 4.2.5 Outcome

A better understanding of the impact of the Hazelwood mine fire on air quality and community exposures will improve the advice and response provided to communities in any future similar incidents. The air quality assessment is also an important component for the exposure assessment and input into forecasting models (see section 5).

Development of a low-cost sensor network for PM<sub>2.5</sub> and CO would allow for effective and fast response to a major pollution event. A low-cost sensor network is more flexible, affordable and portable than existing monitoring stations and therefore can more effectively capture the spatial variability and personal exposures during a major pollution event. A 3-tier monitoring is an effective approach to an emergency response as data can be collected immediately once the event occurs and provide essential data to assess emergency warnings. This has also been highlighted as a recommendation of the Hazelwood mine fire inquiry. The 3-tier monitoring would consist of:

- 1. Quick deployment of hand-held devices that measure key pollutants such as CO and PM and provide indicative but immediate results of the pollution exposure. There is a need to identify fast response equipment that can provide indicative data of CO and PM within hours of event. These instruments will be able to provide spot readings of CO and PM and enable to rapidly assess the extent of the pollution event. While the sensitivity and precision of these instruments are poorer than the instruments used to measure ambient air quality in a standard AMS, the high concentration of pollutants expected during an episode like the mine fire negates the greater uncertainty in the measurements made by these devices.
- 2. Deployment of low cost portable monitors with higher accuracy that can be installed quickly and easily within a couple of days at a number of locations to ensure spatial coverage. These devices would include CO, PM and additional high risk pollutants (e.g. benzene) identified in the data review of this study.
- 3. Implementation of high quality monitoring stations to provide validated data of criteria pollutants and PM and air quality measurements of additional pollutants (e.g. VOCs, PAHs).

### 4.3 Ash

During the Hazelwood mine fire, ash was deposited in and around homes causing health concerns among Morwell residents. Ash samples were collected by EPA Victoria at locations where there were significant deposits of ash (Table 8). A total of 12 ash samples were collected during the Hazelwood mine fire, with an additional dust residue collected during the recovery phase on 14 November 2014.

Sample ID	Date	Sample	Location
Ash1	18/2/14	Ash	Willis Ct.
Ash2	3/3/14	Ash	Willis Ct.
Ash3	3/3/14	Ash	Morwell CFA Station
Ash4	3/3/14	Ash	Morwell East AMS
Ash5	12/3/14	Ash	Wallace St.
Ash6	13/3/14	Ash	Wallace St.
Ash7	13/3/14	Ash	Morwell Bowling Club
Ash8	13/3/14	Ash	Morwell Football Club
Ash9	13/3/14	Ash	Club Astoria Morwell
Ash10	13/3/14	Floor sweepings	Club Astoria Morwell
Ash11	13/3/14	Benches	Club Astoria Morwell

Ash12	18/3/14	Ash	Hazelwood road
Ash13	14/11/14	Dust Residue	Willis Ct.

While control samples of ash from the burning fire would be useful in interpretation the ash data, the ash samples provide a unique opportunity to assess the composition of ash and characterise the ash samples for signature compounds (e.g. semi-volatile organic compounds, metals) associated with open-cut coal mine fires.

### 4.3.1 Composition of ash

Of particular interest are polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) some of which are known or potential human carcinogens. The PAH distribution of ash samples is shown in Figure 11. Concentrations were variable among the different ash samples with highest concentrations observed at the Morwell Football Club and at Club Astoria. The major PAHs identified in the ash samples were semi-volatile PAHs such as naphthalene and phenanthrene. Heavier particle bound PAHs such as benzo(a)pyrene were below the detection limit. Only a sample taken from the top of benches at the Club Astoria (Ash9) had detectable levels of larger molecular weight PAHs. For ash samples 3 and 4, PAH concentrations were below the detection limit. The dust residue sample collected in November 2014 had similar PAH concentrations to those observed in ash samples collected during the Hazelwood mine fire.



#### Figure 11 PAH concentrations measured in ash samples

The concentrations of PAHs in ash are relatively high in comparison to reported total PAH concentrations in ash from forest fires. *Campos et al. (2012)* reported a total PAH concentration of 0.6  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> from a eucalypt forest fire while *Olivella et al. (2006)* reported total PAH concentrations of 1.3-19 ng g<sup>-1</sup> in ash samples

collected approximately one month after forest fires in Portugal. Phenanthrene was the dominant compound measured in the ash samples. *Kim et al. (2003)* reported total PAH concentrations of 0.63-0.74  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> in ash samples from forest fires in Korea.

The metal distribution of ash samples is shown in Figure 12. The dominating metals in the ash samples were iron and aluminium, followed by barium, strontium, titanium, manganese, zinc and boron. Concentrations of the other metals including mercury were low. The presence of metals in the ash samples is consistent with metals found in brown coal for which major inorganics are aluminium and iron and major trace elements are barium, strontium, manganese and boron (*Durie 1991*).



Figure 12 Concentrations of metals measured in ash samples

#### 4.3.2 Transport and deposition of ash

A simple tracer model could be set up to investigate the transport and deposition of fire ash, along the lines of those designed to investigate fine volcanic ash. In the USA, the Air Resources Laboratory has a version of HYSPLIT able to calculate movements of volcanic ash (https://www.ready.noaa.gov/HYSPLIT\_ash.php). This is based on trajectory modelling. Dispersion modelling could also be undertaken, making assumptions on the size and density of the ash particles, and how readily the ash is taken up by rain droplets.

### 4.3.3 Knowledge gaps

Ash emitted from the Hazelwood mine fire has not been well characterised in terms of its size distribution. In order to better understand how ash was dispersed in the environment and deposited outdoors and indoors, it is important to understand the physical characteristics of the ash. Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) in combination with energy dispersive X-ray spectroscopy (EDS), can be used to investigate the elemental distribution, morphology, crystalline phases and electronic structure of individual coal fly ash particles, with emphasis on the ultrafine particles that may have the greatest impact on human health (*Silva et al.* 2009).

Finally the analysis of control samples of the ash would assist in the interpretation of the ash measurements.

# 4.4 Dioxins and Furans (PCDD/F)

Measurements of gas-phase and particle-phase PCDD/F collected during the Hazelwood mine fire along with deposition models of PCDD/F will assist in assessing the potential impact of the Hazelwood mine fire on soil and water systems. In order to assess the potential impact it is important to understand the formation mechanism of PCDD/F during combustion, the conditions (e.g. temperature, fuel composition) that favour their formation, and the deposition and uptake of PCDD/F in water and soils.

### 4.4.1 Ambient concentrations

As mentioned in section 4.2.3, PCDD/F levels can either be represented in terms of mass concentration or as TEQ values, which takes into account the toxicity levels of the individual congeners. The 24-hour measurements of PCDD/F show a significant decrease in TEQ values from 40 fg m<sup>-3</sup> in February to less than 10 fg m<sup>-3</sup> in March. As a comparison, TEQ values of particle-bound congeners observed in Aspendale (VIC) were 4.2 fg m<sup>-3</sup> in winter. These values are low compared to ambient concentrations of PCDD/F in excess of 5000 fg TEQ m<sup>-3</sup> measured during heating season in Poland where coal fired stoves are widely used *(Grochowalski and Chrząszcz 1997)*.

The 24-hour measurements were collected using a Hi-Vol sampling technique, which only captures particlebound congeners and therefore may underestimate total PCDD/F concentrations. While mass concentrations of gas-phase PCDD/F are very low in comparison to particle-phase PCDD/F, the contribution of gas-phase PCDD/F to TEQ values can be more significant as shown in Figure 13. This is due to the higher TEF values of the semi-volatile congeners.

Figure 14 shows the PCDD/F mass concentrations for 17 congeners measured in Morwell in comparison to those measured in Darwin during the dry season (*Meyer et al. 2004*) and in Melbourne in summer and *winter (Gras et al, 2004*). Since the Melbourne and Darwin samples represent both gas- and particle-phase PCDD/F, only the 2 samples collected in March on both filters and PUFs are shown in Figure 14. The PCDD/F mass concentrations measured in Morwell are similar to those measured in Darwin and Melbourne, with a similar congener profile pattern. OCDD dominates the profile for all sites.

Congener profiles can sometimes be used to fingerprint the source of PCDD/F. As an example the congener profile patterns for emissions from coal stoves (*Thuss et al., 1995*), wood heaters (*Gras et al., 2002*) and wildfires (*Meyer et al. 2004*) are shown in Figure 15, indicating clear differences between the different combustion sources. The profile patterns for Morwell (3-18 March) and Melbourne in Figure 16 are different, which may be indicative of different sources. There's a higher contribution of dioxins compared to furans in the Morwell sample compared to the Melbourne winter samples for which the major source contribution is domestic wood heaters.







Figure 14 Mass concentrations of dioxin and furan congeners measured in Morwell, Melbourne and Darwin, gas+aerosol phase, values less than detection limit excluded (lower-bound), g+a denotes gas plus aerosol; a denotes aerosol only



Figure 15 Profile pattern for dioxin and furan congeners of selected combustion sources; values less than detection limit excluded (lower-bound)



Figure 16 Profile pattern of ambient dioxins and furans measured in Morwell, Melbourne and Darwin; g+a denotes gas plus aerosol; a denotes aerosol only; values less than detection limit excluded (lower-bound)

#### 4.4.2 Formation mechanism of dioxins/furans

Formation of PCDD/F during combustion can either occur via gas-phase reactions or via heterogeneous reactions that occur on particle surfaces (*Stanmore 2004*). Temperature plays an important role in PCDD/F formation, with significantly higher PCDD/F emissions at higher temperatures. *Paradiz et al. (2008)* showed that the PCDD/F emission factor increased 10 fold when flue gas temperatures in domestic coal heating increased from 450°C to 600°C. Experimental work looking at PCDD/F emissions from prescribed burns, bushfires and domestic wood heaters has shown differences in emissions primarily linked to combustion temperatures (*Meyer et al. 2004*). Higher combustion temperatures observed in wood heaters resulted in higher emissions of dioxins and furans.

Congener profiles and hence toxicity of emissions are also dependent on combustion temperatures. High furan to dioxin ratio was observed in emissions from wood combustion in furnaces and domestic heaters *(Gras et al. 2002)*, while lower furan to dioxin ratio was observed in field burns *(Meyer et al. 2004)*. The different congener profiles in field burns are likely due to duration of smoke plume at high temperature. Smoke plume can be rapidly cooled to temperatures that do not support the heterogeneous reactions required for dioxins synthesis. In the coal fire, temperatures are likely to stay at higher temperatures for longer, resulting in formation of dioxins via heterogeneous reactions. Whilst there are no published dioxin/furan emission rates for an open-cut coal mine fire, emission rates are available from combustion of coal in domestic heaters. *Lee et al (2005)* measured emissions of dioxins and furans from burning coal in an open fire place and reported high rates of lower chlorinated dioxins and furans, particularly mono- to trichlorinated dibenzofurans.

The chemical composition of coal also influences dioxin/furan production with chlorine content in coal playing the largest impact on dioxin/furan emissions. *Paradiz et al. (2015)* measured dioxin formation from burning low chlorinated (0.07%) hard coal and high-chlorinated (0.31%) hard coal. They measured highest emissions from high chlorine coal in the chimney when temperatures were above 500°C. They examined the dependence of emissions on Cl content by impregnating low chlorine coal with NaCl and found a strong but non-linear dependence, with a sharp increase in emissions if coal has a content of 0.2%. As the chlorine content of the Hazelwood mine coal is low (0.04-0.07%) in comparison to high-salt coals (above 0.3%) (see Table 6), PCDD/F production is expected to be lower.

Sulphur and nitrogen may play a minor influence on dioxin formation by acting as an inhibitor while copper can act as a catalyst.

#### 4.4.3 Transport and deposition

PCDD/F are highly persistent under normal environmental conditions and can be transported long distances in the atmosphere if they are bound to particulate material. PCDD/F have an affinity to partition onto organic carbon such as soils, sediment and carbonaceous aerosols. In the presence of elevated concentrations of carbonaceous particles, PCDD/F may more readily partition into the particle-phase. In the absence of gas-phase measurements during the more intensive period of the Hazelwood mine fire, it is difficult to assess the proportion of PCDD/F in the gas and particle phase. Gas-phase PCDD/F may also undergo degradation via reaction with the OH radical.

Gas-phase and particle-phase PCDD/F can undergo dry deposition which refers to the transfer of PCDD/F onto vegetation, soil and water surfaces by atmospheric turbulence and molecular diffusion. Deposition rates for particle-phase PCDD/F may also be enhanced by gravitational settling of the particles.

The fate of PCDD/F in the environment is complex. In a study conducted on the fate of PCDD/F within an agricultural ecosystem, results indicated that roughly 15% of the total annual deposition to the farm was captured in the feed crops, while the remaining 85% was transferred directly to soil (*Welsch-Pausch and McLachlan 1998*). Particle-bound deposition accounted for the majority of the atmospheric flux into the ecosystem, with the majority going directly to the soil; gaseous deposition dominated the transfer into crops and, hence, into the food chain.

PCDD/F are bioaccumulative and most human exposure occurs though the food chain rather than through inhalation. The WHO estimates that on average, the contribution from inhalation is approximately 1% of the dietary intake, thus no air quality guidelines limiting exposure to PCDDs and PCDFs via inhalation have been proposed (*WHO*, 2000). If the major source of dioxins and furans entering the food chain is from atmospheric deposition, then the level in the air does provide an indirect indication of levels that are

ending up in food. Assuming the atmosphere is the major source, the WHO suggests that sources resulting in toxic equivalent air concentrations of 0.3 pg m<sup>-3</sup> or higher should be controlled to limit the amount entering the food chain via deposition. The maximum toxic equivalent aerosol-phase air concentration observed during the Morwell fire was 0.039 pg m<sup>-3</sup>, decreasing to about 0.004 pg m<sup>-3</sup> by 21<sup>st</sup> March. The maximum aerosol phase concentration was 8 times lower than the WHO recommendation, and assuming a similar level in the gas phase (a conservative estimate based on aerosol/gas partitioning shown in Figure 13b), then the combined toxic equivalent concentration was at least 4 times lower than the WHO recommendation.

#### 4.4.4 Knowledge gap

Dioxin and furan congener profile patterns are available for a range of combustion sources including fires, domestic wood heaters and coal stoves, but cannot be easily related to an open-cut coal mine fire due to differences in temperature and oxygen conditions under which the coal mine fire occurred. Research studies have shown that temperature can have a significant influence on the profile pattern.

# **5** Potential uses

### 5.1 Exposure assessment

CSIRO, in collaboration with Monash University and the Menzies Institute, University of Tasmania conducted a smoke exposure study in early 2015 *(Emmerson et al. 2015)*. The aim of the study was to investigate the strength and direction of the smoke dispersion from Hazelwood to nearby towns. The study therefore also showed the towns within the Latrobe Valley which did not experience high smoke concentrations, and therefore could be used as a control population in the long term health study.

As emission rates from the actual fire were not known, and a literature search yielded no suitable information on likely emission factors, a unit emission rate of  $1g s^{-1}$  was used to represent the fire. As no chemistry acted upon this smoke tracer, the results could be scaled up linearly to match the concentrations of particulate matter monitored in nearby towns.

Two methods of emitting the smoke tracer were tested:

- a) Tracer emitted at a constant rate of 1g s<sup>-1</sup> over the whole fire period;
- b) Tracer emitted using a diurnal profile to weight the 1g s<sup>-1</sup> over a day, following a sine function that peaked mid-afternoon.

Modelling assumptions used:

- Smoke tracer is emitted as particle made of black carbon;
- No other emissions or chemistry act on this smoke tracer;
- Smoke tracer is emitted at 50m in height to represent low level Hazelwood smoke as per photographs taken at the time;
- No plume rise calculations have been applied to the smoke tracer.

The modelling showed that the highest concentrations of smoke from the fire occurred when the winds were blowing from a south westerly direction. However most towns within a 30km radius of the mine fire were exposed to high concentrations of the smoke tracer. A comparison of the modelled mine tracer concentrations with measured values of PM<sub>2.5</sub> in Morwell highlighted that the assumed unit emission rate could need to be scaled up by as much as a factor of 2000. Spatial plots were constructed that show the number of days (out of a possible 45 days that the fire burned for) within each town that the PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentrations would exceed 1,5,10 and 20  $\mu$ g m<sup>-3</sup> as a peak hourly average. Figure 17 shows that at an exceedance level of 20  $\mu$ g m<sup>-3</sup> the number of days this concentration was exceeded were Trafalgar (24 days), Rosedale (22days), Warragul (18 days), Sale (14 days), Leongatha (11 days) and Yarram (4 days).



Figure 17 Modelled frequency of days on which the  $PM_{25}$  concentration would exceed 20  $\mu$ g m<sup>-3</sup> as an hourly average out of a maximum 45 days due to mine fire scenario.

A number of considerations were given to the choice of control population. These included smoke exposure, ease of logistics for such a long-term health study, and the economic demographics of the representative population.

#### Outcome:

The exposure assessment will provide input to the long-term health study conducted by Monash University. Previous studies have shown that emissions from burning coal beds of acidic gases, particulates, organic compounds, and trace elements can contribute to a range of respiratory and other human health problems *(Finkelman 2004)*.

### 5.2 Forecasting model

A major recommendation of this report is to produce an efficient forecast model along with training on its use, and made available to planners in cases of future large industrial fires. The model should be easy to use (i.e. run on a Windows computer platform) and provide forecasts for up to 24 hours ahead of time quickly. This would enable decisions about potential evacuations to be made, based on the amount of exposure from smoke. The model would require access to weather forecast data from the Bureau of Meteorology. To avoid the requirement of a full chemical transport model, the species to be forecast should be tracer species only, which do not take place in any chemical reactions, but are subject to wet and

dry deposition. For smoke, the important species are CO and PM at two different size fractions;  $\mathsf{PM}_{10}$  and  $\mathsf{PM}_{2.5.}$ 

The model should have an in-built post-processing module which would plot the resulting concentrations on a map in an easy to understand format. For example, the concentrations could be split into low, medium or high exposure, for example. The demarcations between low, medium and high should be based on current air quality standards. The National Environment Protection measures for ambient air quality, which are set for minimising harm to human health, are shown in Table 9 for CO and PM.

Pollutant	Averaging period	Limit	Allowable exceedances
Carbon monoxide	8 hours	9 ppm	1 day per year
PM <sub>10</sub>	24 hours	50 µg m <sup>-3</sup>	5 days per year
PM <sub>2.5</sub>	24 hours	25 μg m <sup>-3</sup>	-

#### Table 8 Current air quality standards for carbon monoxide and particulate matter

Taken from http://www.environment.gov.au/protection/air-quality/air-quality-standards

There are a number of challenges in producing such a forecast model. The operator needs to input information based on:

- Fire emission characterisation what exactly is being burned, and how much?
- Plume rise how buoyant is the plume in the atmosphere?
- Burning condition how hot is the burn? Was the fuel damp?

Each of these challenges will affect the method by which the smoke will be dispersed and will contribute to uncertainties and inaccuracies in the forecast. Some challenges are easier to overcome than others. For example, taking frequent photographs of the fire plume can aid greatly in determining the amount of plume rise occurring. If it is possible and safe to do so, positioning a person (or automated measurement system) on the ground at the site to investigate the conditions of the burn would be very useful.

#### Note on inverse modelling

Inverse modelling is a process that can provide information on what and how much fuel was burnt. It is completed after a fire has burned and therefore cannot be used as part of a forecast model. However, if no other information exists on the fuel burnt in a current fire, results from a previous inverse modelling study could be used \*if the conditions of the burn are similar\*. CSIRO will undertake an inverse modelling study of the Hazelwood mine fire to try and ascertain the emission source strength. This inverse modelling will take place as part of the smoke exposure assessment study. There are uncertainties in the inverse modelling process, as it will assume uniformity in the source emission. This is not always the case in real fires, as conditions can change constantly.

# **Appendix A Measurement and analysis methods**

### A.1 Instruments

#### A.1.1 Particle instruments

- The e-sampler (E-sampler-9800, Met One Instruments Inc., USA) provides both continuous realtime particulate measurements through near-forward light-scattering and collection of sample on a 47mm filter substrate that can be used for subsequent measurements of gravimetric mass and for chemical composition. Air was sampled at a constant flow rate of 2 l min<sup>-1</sup> through a sharp-cut PM<sub>2.5</sub> cyclone. The samples were collected on Teflon filters 47 mm in diameter with 2 µm pore size. Continuous real-time measurements were calibrated against gravimetric filter measurements (Australian reference method). Uncertainty ± 10%
- The DustTrak (TSI Inc., USA) is a laser photometer that provides real-time measurements based on 90 degree light scattering. The particle mass concentration is determined by the amount of light scatter, based on a calibration factor. The relationship between light scattering and particle mass concentrations varies with particle source and particle size distribution. DustTrak produces data that is considered indicative of levels of PM<sub>2.5</sub> in an area. Indicative data. If calibrated with a site specific mass calibration factor determined gravimetrically uncertainty ± 10%.
- BAM (Model 4014*i* Beta, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc.) is a standard beta attenuation monitor that automatically measures and records airborne particles. This instrument works by collecting particles on a filter tape and measuring the reduction in beta rays travelling through the particles. From this, the concentration of airborne particles is calculated. BAMs meet the Australian National Standard (AS 3580.9.12–2013). Uncertainty ±10%
- The nephelometer measures the amount of particles in the air using very sensitive, light-scattering sensors and calculates a visibility reduction index.
- The Tapered Element Oscillating Micro-balance (TEOM) continually measures the concentration of airborne particles. It does this by collecting and weighing the particles using a very sensitive balance. TEOMs are standard across EPA's network and meet the Australian National Standard (AS 3580.9.8–2008). Uncertainty ±10%
- A High-Volume Air Sampler (HiVol) samples large volumes of air and collects the contained particulate matter by filtration. Air was sampled at a flow rate of 1.1 m<sup>3</sup> min<sup>-1</sup> through a 10 μm sizeselective inlet. AS/NZ 3850.9.6:2015 or AS/NZ 3850.9.14:2013. Uncertainty ±10%.
- The Partisol is a gravimetric sampler that employs a sequential system of 47 mm filters that enables several 24-hour period samples to be collected automatically. The Partisol operates at a flow rate of 10-19 L min<sup>-1</sup>. AS/NZ 3850.9.9:2006. Uncertainty ±10%
- The MOUDI (Model 110-R, MSP Corporation) is a 10 stage cascade impactor with the stages having 50% cut-points ranging from 0.056 μm to 18 μm in aerodynamic diameter. The HiVol MOUDI (Model 131, MSP Corporation) is a 6-stage impactor with the stages having 50% cut-points ranging

from 0.25  $\mu$ m to 10  $\mu$ m in aerodynamic diameter. The MOUDI works by inertial impaction using multi-nozzle stages in series. The MOUDI and HiVol MOUDI samples were taken at the designed flow rate of 30 L min<sup>-1</sup> and 100 L min<sup>-1</sup> respectively.

#### A.1.2 CO measurements

CO was measured by two methods

- Ecotech trace CO analyser which utilises infrared absorption spectrometry. Australian Standard AS3580.7.1:2011. Uncertainty of approx. 2% Operated in AMS.
- The CFA used AreaRAE portable personal monitors which use electrochemical sensors to detect CO. These monitors are traditionally used to assess occupational exposure so that the CO sensor is less sensitive than the NDIR method employed by EPAV to measure ambient levels of CO.

#### A.1.3 VOC measurements

Different methods were used to collect VOCs: canister sampling over a 24-hour period, passive sorbent tube sampling using Radiello tubes and active sampling on sorbent tubes and DNPH cartridges and are summarised in Tables A1 and A2.

- Canister samples were collected over a 24- hour period in stainless steel fused silica-coated canisters and transported to analytical laboratory for chemical analysis.
- Radiello tubes are adsorbent tubes that absorb VOCs in the air. They are a stand-alone, passively sampling tube that were deployed at different sites in Morwell and sampled over a 7-day period.
- VOC samples were also collected by drawing air through two Markes Carbograph 1TD / Carbopack X adsorbent tubes at a flow rate of 20 ml min<sup>-1</sup> for 25-minutes per hour over a 24 hour period, giving a typical volume of 6 L. The absorbent tubes were placed in sequence, with a back-up tube to assess sample break-through. Sampling was conducted according to USEPA Compendium method TO-17 (USEPA TO-17).
- Samples for the analysis of carbonyl compounds (including formaldehyde) were collected by drawing air through Supelco LpDNPH s10 air monitoring cartridges at a flow rate of 500 ml min<sup>-1</sup> over a 24-hour period. Carbonyls were trapped on high purity silica adsorbent coated with 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazine(2,4-DNPH), where they are converted to the hydrazone derivatives. An ozone scrubber was placed in front of the LpDNPH cartridge. Sampling was conducted according to USEPA method TO-11A.

#### Apx Table A.1 VOC sampling and measurement details

SITE	SAMPLING DATE	SAMPLING PERIOD	SAMPLING METHOD	COLLECTED BY	ANALYSIS METHOD	ANALYSED BY
Morwell South AMS; Maryvale Crescent Preschool; Morwell East AMS	26-27 February 27-28 February 5-6 March 6-7 March 13-14 March	24-hours	Canister	EPA Victoria	USEPA Method TO-15	NMI
Morwell South AMS; Maryvale Crescent Preschool; Morwell East AMS	From 4 February	7-days	Radiello sorbent tubes (passive)	EPA Victoria	USEPA Method TO-17	SGS-Leeder Consulting
Morwell South (cnr of Chapel and Elgin st)	3 -19 March	25min per hour over 24h period	Sorbent tubes (active)	CSIRO	USEPA Method TO-17	CSIRO

#### Apx Table A.2 Carbonyl sampling and measurement details

SITE	SAMPLING DATE	SAMPLING PERIOD	SAMPLING METHOD	COLLECTED BY	ANALYSIS METHOD	ANALYSED BY
Morwell South AMS; Maryvale Crescent Preschool; Morwell East AMS	26-27 February 27-28 February 5-6 March 6-7 March 13-14 March	24h	Radiello (passive)	EPA Victoria	USEPA Method TO-11	SGS-Leeder Consulting
Morwell South (cnr of Chapel and Elgin st)	3 -19 March	24h	DNPH cartridges (active)	CSIRO	USEPA Method TO-11	CSIRO

Table A3 summarises the collection and analysis methods for PAHs and dioxins.

#### Apx Table A.3 PAHs and dioxins sampling and measurement details

SITE	SAMPLING DATE	SAMPLING PERIOD	SAMPLING METHOD	COLLECTED BY	ANALYSIS METHOD	ANALYSED BY
Morwell South AMS	26-27 February 27-28 February 5-6 March 6-7 March 7-8 March 12-13 March 14-15 March 20-21 March	24-hours	HiVol PM10 filters	EPA Victoria	USEPA Method (Isotope dilution)	NMI
Morwell South (cnr of Chapel and Elgin st)	3 -18 March 18-28 March	15 days 10 days	Quartz filters and PUFs	CSIRO	USEPA Method TO9A	Asure Quality

Table A4 summarises the collection and analysis methods for metals.

#### Apx Table A.4 Metals sampling and measurement details

SITE	SAMPLING DATE	SAMPLING PERIOD	SAMPLING METHOD	COLLECTED BY	ANALYSIS METHOD	ANALYSED BY
Morwell South AMS	26-27 February 27-28 February 5-6 March 6-7 March 7-8 March 12-13 March 14-15 March 20-21 March	24-hours	HiVol PM10 filters	EPA Victoria	ICP	SGS-Leeder Consulting
Morwell South AMS	28 February-26 March	24-hours	Partisol PM10	EPA Victoria	PIXE	ANSTO
Morwell South (cnr of Chapel and Elgin st)	3 -7 March 7-14 March 14-21 March 21-28 March	weekly	E-sampler PM2.5	CSIRO	PIXE	ANSTO
Morwell East AMS	28 Feb-7 March 7-14 March 14-28 March	weekly weekly 2-weeks	E-sampler PM2.5	CSIRO	PIXE	ANSTO
Traralgon	28 Feb-7 March 7-14 March 14-28 March	weekly weekly 2-weeks	E-sampler PM2.5	CSIRO	PIXE	ANSTO

# **Appendix B Gaseous Elemental Mercury**

Samples of gaseous elemental mercury were collected by actively drawing air through carbon traps impregnated with iodide which are held in <sup>4</sup>/<sub>2</sub>" glass tubes. Samples were collected at a flow rate of about 2 l min<sup>-1</sup> over a period of 6-10 days, giving sample volumes of 18-26 m<sup>3</sup>. Each glass tube contained two traps separated by glass wool so breakthrough and blanks could be assessed on each sample if required. Breakthrough of mercury is very small, and usually <5% at flow rates of up to 1 l min<sup>-1</sup> (Bloom et al. 1995). The sample tubes were sealed before and after sampling with teflon plugs until they were ready for analysis. Analysis was done by Eurofins Global Frontier Sciences Inc. lab (WA, USA). Samples were analysed for Total Mercury by flow injection atomic fluorescence spectrometry (FI-AFS) according to SOP EFGS-136 (Modified EPA method 1631e).

Four duplicate mercury samples were collected at Morwell South between 3 March 2014 and 28 March 2014. The results are presented in Table 19. The sampling tubes for the period of March 3-5 were not properly connected to the sampling pump and those samples were used as field blanks.

Mercury concentrations remained low during the entire sampling period. For comparison, the average concentration measured in background air in the Southern Hemisphere is 1 ng/m<sup>3</sup> (Slemr et al. 2015).

Date/Time ON	Date/Time OFF	Volume (m³)	т (°С)	Pressure (mbar)	Mercury concentration (ng/m³)	Mercury concentration STP (ng/m³)
3/03/14 15:30	5/03/14 10:35				0.00 ( <mdl) 0.00 (<mdl)< td=""><td></td></mdl)<></mdl) 	
5/03/14 12:05	11/03/14 17:20	17.8 19.1	20.2	1008.2	2.32 1.80	2.51 1.94
11/03/14 17:40	18/03/14 11:0	18.2 19.3	17.6	1001.2	1.54 1.49	1.65 1.61
18/03/14 16:08	28/03/14 09:51	26.8 26.6	17.9	1010.9	1.48 1.25	1.59 1.34

#### Table 9 Measured gaseous mercury concentrations at Morwell South

All values are blank corrected; ½ MDL was used for blank concentrations below the MDL

Slemr, F., Angot, H., Dommergue, A., Magand, O., Barret, M., Weigelt, A., Ebinghaus, R., Brunke, E. G., Pfaffhuber, K. A., Edwards, G., Howard, D., Powell, J., Keywood, M., & Wang, F. (2015). Comparison of mercury concentrations measured at several sites in the Southern Hemisphere. Atmos. Chem. Phys., 15(6), 3125-3133.

# References

Aditama TY (2000) Impact of haze from forest fire to respiratory health: Indonesian experience. *Respirology* **5**, 169-174.

Bertschi IT and Jaffe DA (2005) Long-range transport of ozone, carbon monoxide, and aerosols to the NE Pacific troposphere during the summer of 2003: Observations of smoke plumes from Asian boreal fires. *Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres* **110**(D5), 5303-5303.

Blake D, Hinwood AL and Horwitz P (2009) Peat fires and air quality: volatile organic compounds and particulates. *Chemosphere* **76**(3), 419-423.

Brunke EG, Labuschagne C and Scheel HE (2001) Trace gas variations at Cape Point, South Africa, during May 1997 following a regional biomass burning episode. *Atmospheric Environment* **35**(4), 777-786.

Campos I, Abrantes N, Pereira P, Vale C, Ferreira A and Keizer JJ (2012). <u>Characterization of</u> <u>polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and metals in ashes released from a forest fire</u>. EGU General Assembly 2012, Vienna, Austria, Geophysical Research Abstracts.

Cheng M, Galbally IE, Molloy SB, Selleck PW, Keywood MD, Lawson SJ, Powell JC, Gillett RW and Dunne E (2015) Factors controlling volatile organic compounds in dwellings in Melbourne, Australia. *Indoor Air*.

DeBell LJ, Talbot RW, Dibb JE, Munger JW, Fischer EV and Frolking SE (2004) A major regional air pollution event in the northeastern United States caused by extensive forest fires in Quebec, Canada. *Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres* **109**(D19), -.

Durie RA (1991). 'The Science of Victorian Brown Coal: Structure, Properties and Consequences for Utilization'. (CSIRO: North Ryde, Australia).

Dutkiewicz VA, Husain L, Roychowdhury UK and Demerjian KL (2011) Impact of Canadian wildfire smoke on air quality at two rural sites in NY State. *Atmospheric Environment* **45**(12), 2028-2033.

Ellyett CD and Fleming AW (1974) Thermal infrared imagery of The Burning Mountain coal fire. *Remote Sensing of Environment* **3**, 79-86.

Emmerson KM, Williamson G, Reisen F, Cope ME and Johnston F (2015). Estimate of smoke exposure from the Hazelwood mine fire., CSIRO Australia

Engle MA, Olea RA, Hower JC, Stracher GB and Kolker A (2012). Methods to quantify diffuse CO2 emissions from coal fires using unevenly distributed flux data. In 'Coal and Peat Fires: a Global Perspective.'. (Eds G. B. Stracher, A. Prakash and E. V. Sokol). pp. 24. (Elsevier: Amsterdam)

Engle MA, Radke LF, Heffern EL, O'Keefe JMK, Flower JC, Smeltzer CD, Hower JM, Olea RA, Eatwell RJ, Blake DR, Emsbo-Mattingly SD, Stout SA, Queen G, Aggen KL, Kolker A, Prakash A, Henke KR, Stracher GB, Schroeder PA, Roman-Colon Y and ter Schure A (2012) Gas emissions, minerals, and tars associated with three coal fires, Powder River Basin, USA. *Science of the Total Environment* **420**, 146-159.

Engle MA, Radke LF, Heffern EL, O'Keefe JMK, Smeltzer CD, Hower JC, Hower JM, Prakash A, Kolker A, Eatwell RJ, ter Schure A, Queen G, Aggen KL, Stracher GB, Henke KR, Olea RA and Roman-Colon Y (2011) Quantifying greenhouse gas emissions from coal fires using airborne and ground-based methods. *International Journal of Coal Geology* **88**(2-3), 147-151.

Finkelman RB (2004) Potential health impacts of burning coal beds and waste banks. *International Journal of Coal Geology* **59**(1-2), 19-24.

Gras JL, Meyer CP, Weeks IA, Gillett RW, Galbally IE, Todd J, Carnovale F, Joynt RC, Hinwood A, Berko H and Brown SK (2002). 'Emissions from domestic solid fuel burning appliances [wood-heaterwoodheaters, open fireplaces] (Technical report; no. 5)'. (Environment Australia: Canberra).

Gras, J. G., Mueller, J., Graham, B., Symons, R., Carras, J., & Cook, G. D. (2004). Dioxins in ambient air. National Dioxins Program Technical Report No. 4. Australian Government Department of Environment and Heritage, Canberra.

Grochowalski A and Chrząszcz R (1997) PCDDs/Fs in suspended particulate matter in ambient air from Krakow City, Poland. . *Organohalogen Compounds* **32**, 76-80.

Heilman WE, Liu YQ, Urbanski S, Kovalev V and Mickler R (2014) Wildland fire emissions, carbon, and climate: Plume transport, and chemistry processes. *Forest Ecology and Management* **317**, 70-79.

Hower JC, Henke K, O'Keefe JMK, Engle MA, Blake DR and Stracher GB (2009) The Tiptop coal-mine fire, Kentucky: Preliminary investigation of the measurement of mercury and other hazardous gases from coal-fire gas vents. *International Journal of Coal Geology* **80**(1), 63-67.

Huo HY, Ni ZY, Gao CX, Zhao EY, Zhang YZ, Lian Y, Zhang HL, Zhang SY, Jiang XG, Song XF, Zhou P and Cui TJ (2015) A Study of Coal Fire Propagation with Remotely Sensed Thermal Infrared Data. *Remote Sensing* **7**(3), 3088-3113.

Ide ST and Orr FM (2011) Comparison of methods to estimate the rate of CO2 emissions and coal consumption from a coal fire near Durango, CO. *International Journal of Coal Geology* **86**(1), 95-107.

Keywood M, Cope M, Meyer CPM, linuma Y and Emmerson K (2015) When smoke comes to town: The impact of biomass burning smoke on air quality. *Atmospheric Environment* **121**, 13-21.

Kim EJ, Oh JE and Chang YS (2003) Effects of forest fire on the level and distribution of PCDD/Fs and PAHs in soil. *Science of the Total Environment* **311**(1-3), 177-189.

Konovalov IB, Beekmann M, Kuznetsova IN, Yurova A and Zvyagintsev AM (2011) Atmospheric impacts of the 2010 Russian wildfires: integrating modelling and measurements of an extreme air pollution episode in the Moscow region. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics* **11**(19), 10031-10056.

Kunii O, Kanagawa S, Yajima I, Hisamatsu Y, Yamamura S, Amagai T and Ismail ITS (2002) The 1997 haze disaster in Indonesia: Its air quality and health effects. *Archives of Environmental Health* **57**(1), 16-22.

Lee, R. G. M., Coleman, P., Jones, J. L., Jones, K. C. and Lohmann, R. (2005)Emission factors and importance of PCDD/Fs, PCBs, PCNs, PAHs and PM10 from the domestic burning of coal and wood in the U.K. Environ. Sci.Technol. 39: 1436-1447.

Meyer CP, Beer T, Muller JF, Gillett R, Weeks I, Powell J, Tolhurst K, McCaw L, Cook G, Marney D and Symons R (2004). 'Dioxins emissions from bushfires in Australia, National Dioxins Program Technical Report No.1'. (Australian Government Department of the Environment and Heritage: Canberra).

Meyer CPM, Reisen F, Luhar AK, Powell JC, Lee S, Cope M, Keywood MD, Galbally IE, Linfoot S, Parry D, McCaw L and Tolhurst K (2008). Particles, Ozone and Air Toxic Levels in Rural Communities during Prescribed Burning Seasons. <u>Final Report to the Department of Sustainability,</u> <u>Environment, Water, Population and Communities</u>. Melbourne, CSIRO Atmos Res,. Molloy SB, Cheng M, Galbally IE, Keywood MD, Lawson SJ, Powell JC, Gillett R, Dunne E and Selleck PW (2012) Indoor air quality in typical temperate zone Australian dwellings. *Atmospheric Environment* **54**, 400-407.

Nolter MA and Vice DH (2004) Looking back at the Centralia coal fire: a synopsis of its present status. *International Journal of Coal Geology* **59**(1-2), 99-106.

O'Keefe JMK, Henke KR, Hower JC, Engle MA, Stracher GB, Stucker JD, Drew JW, Staggs WD, Murray TM, Hammond ML, Adkins KD, Mullins BJ and Lemley EW (2010) CO(2), CO, and Hg emissions from the Truman Shepherd and Ruth Mullins coal fires, eastern Kentucky, USA. *Science of the Total Environment* **408**(7), 1628-1633.

O'Keefe JMK, Neace ER, Lemley EW, Hower JC, Henke KR, Copley G, Hatch RS, Satterwhite AB and Blake DR (2011) Old Smokey coal fire, Floyd County, Kentucky: estimates of gaseous emission rates. *International Journal of Coal Geology* **87**, 150-156.

Olivella MA, Ribalta TG, de Febrer AR, Mollet JM and de las Heras FXC (2006) Distribution of Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in riverine waters after Mediterranean forest fires. *Science of the Total Environment* **355**(1-3), 156-166.

Paradiz B, Dilara P, Horak J, De Santi G, Christoph EH and Umlauf G (2008) An integrated approach to asses the PCDD/F emissions of the coal fired stoves combining emission measurements and ambient air levels modelling. *Chemosphere* **73**(1), S94-S100.

Paradiz B, Dilara P, Umlauf G, Bajsic I and Butala V (2015) Dioxin emissions from coal combustion in domestic stove: formation in the chimney and coal chlorine content influence. *Thermal Science* **19**(1), 295-304.

Rein G (2016). Smoldering Combustion. In 'SFPE Handbook of Fire Protection Engineering'. (Eds M. J. Hurley, D. T. Gottuk, J. R. Hall Jr, K. Harada, E. D. Kuligowski, M. Puchovsky, J. L. Torero, J. M. Watts Jr and C. J. Wieczorek). pp. 581-603. (Springer New York)

Reisen F and Brown SK (2006) Implications for community health from exposure to bushfire air toxics. *Environmental Chemistry* **3**(4), 235-243.

Reisen F and Brown SK (2009) Australian firefighters' exposure to air toxics during bushfire burns of autumn 2005 and 2006. *Environment International* **35**(2), 342-352.

Reisen F, Fisher G., Torre P., Marshall A., Cope M., Emmerson K., Galbally I., Gillett R., Keywood MD, Molloy S. and J. P (2015). 'Analysis of air quality during the Hazelwood mine fire'. (CSIRO: Australia).

Reisen F, Hansen D and Meyer CP (2011) Exposure to bushfire smoke during prescribed burns and wildfires: Firefighters' exposure risks and options. *Environment International* **37**(2), 314-321.

Reisen F, Meyer CP, McCaw L, Powell JC, Tolhurst K, Keywood MD and Gras JL (2011b) Impact of smoke from biomass burning on air quality in rural communities in southern Australia. Atmospheric Environment 45(24): 3944-3953.

Silva LFO, Moreno T and Querol X (2009) An introductory TEM study of Fe-nanominerals within coal fly ash. *Science of the Total Environment* **407**(17), 4972-4974.

Stanmore BR (2004) The formation of dioxins in combustion systems. *Combustion and Flame* **136**(3), 398-427.

Stracher GB and Taylor TP (2004) Coal fires burning out of control around the world: thermodynamic recipe for environmental catastrophe. *International Journal of Coal Geology* **59**, 7-17.

Thuss, U., Popp, P., Ehrlich, C.; Kalkoff, W.-D. (1995) Domestic lignite combustion as source of polychlorodibenzodioxins and –furans (PCDD/F), Chemosphere, 31(2), 2591-2604

van Dijk P, Zhang JZ, Jun W, Kuenzer C and Wolf KH (2011) Assessment of the contribution of insitu combustion of coal to greenhouse gas emission; based on a comparison of Chinese mining information to previous remote sensing estimates. *International Journal of Coal Geology* **86**(1), 108-119.

Welsch-Pausch K and McLachlan MS (1998) Fate of airborne polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins and dibenzofurans in an agricultural ecosystem. *Environmental Pollution* **102**(1), 129-137.

WHO (2000) Air quality guidelines for Europe; second edition Copenhagen, WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2000 (WHO regional publications. European series; N o 91), http://www.euro.who.int/en/publications/abstracts/air-quality-guidelines-for-europe

#### CONTACT US

- t 1300 363 400
- +61 3 9545 2176
- e enquiries@csiro.au
- w www.csiro.au

#### AT CSIRO WE SHAPE THE FUTURE

We do this by using science to solve real issues. Our research makes a difference to industry, people and the planet.

As Australia's national science agency we've been pushing the edge of what's possible for over 85 years. Today we have more than 5,000 talented people working out of 50-plus centres in Australia and internationally. Our people work closely with industry and communities to leave a lasting legacy. Collectively, our innovation and excellence places us in the top ten applied research agencies in the world.

WE ASK, WE SEEK AND WE SOLVE

#### FOR FURTHER INFORMATION

#### **Oceans and Atmosphere**

Fabienne Reisen

- t +61 3 9239 4435
- e fabienne.reisen@csiro.au
- w www.csiro.au/en/Research/OandA

#### **Oceans and Atmosphere**

- Melita Keywood
- t +61 3 9239 4596
- e melita.keywood@csiro.au
- w www.csiro.au/en/Research/OandA